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This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes "forwaoaing statements". We intend these forwlaaking statements to be covered by
safe harbor provisions for forward-looking staterteecontained in the Private Securities Litigatioef&m Act of 1995. These forward-looking
statements relate to expectations concerning nsttext are not historical facts, and are generadlgntified by words such as "believe",
"expect”, "anticipate"”, "estimate”, "intend"”, "stegy"”, "may", "will likely" and similar words or phses. A forwardeoking statement is neith
a prediction nor a guarantee of future events ocwinstances, and those future events or circumstan@y not occur. These forward-looking
statements are all based on currently available kegroperating, financial and competitive infornaatiand assumptions and are subject to
various risks and uncertainties that are diffictdtpredict. Our actual results could differ matdlyaand adversely from those expressed in any
forward-looking statements as a result of various factbmgportant information regarding factors that coudduse actual results to differ
materially from such expectations is disclosechis Report, including, without limitation, informah under the caption Risk Factors".

Except as required by law,we do not undertake dotigation to revise or update any forwelooking statements for any reason.

PART |
Item 1. Business of Netlist, Inc.
Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high parborce memory subsystems for the server, high pedece computing and communications
markets. Our memory subsystems consist of combimsitbf dynamic random access memory integrateditst"DRAM ICs"), NAND flash
memory ("NAND"), application-specific integratedaiits ("ASICs") and other components assembledroned circuit boards ("PCBs"). We
engage with our original equipment manufacturel5NMD) customers from the earliest stages of new pcodefinition, which provides us
unigue insight into their full range of system atetture and performance requirements. This cloiatworation has also allowed us to develop
a significant level of systems expertise. We legera portfolio of proprietary technologies and gegechniques, including efficient planar
design, alternative packaging techniques and custmiconductor logic, to deliver memory subsysteritls high memory density, small form
factor, high signal integrity, attractive thermakbeacteristics and low cost per bit.

We were incorporated in Delaware in Jun@2?dnd commenced operations in September 2000.
Memory Products
DRAM Modules

We design and manufacture a comprehensistéopo of DRAM memory solutions. As OEMs contirllyarequire more from DRAM than
major integrated circuit ("IC") suppliers can deliywe bridge the gap with customized, plug-in-yeaemory modules. Our products optimize
DRAM subsystems to the unique density, performaquality, and cost requirements of each OEM. Wdaikihe structural differences
between ICs from all leading suppliers and applyproprietary board-level design technologies tickjy and costeffectively tailor DRAM to
the needs of specific OEM applications.

We offer a comprehensive lineup of dudite-memory modules ("DIMMs"), utilizing a wide rge of DRAM technologies from
Synchronous DRAM ("SDRAM"), to double-data-rate PR"), DDR2 and leading-edge high performance DDRBAM devices. The
DIMMs encompass a broad range of form factors andtfonality. Our product offerings include Regisig DIMMs("RDIMMS"), Fully-
Buffered DIMMs ("FBDIMMs"), Small Outline DIMMS ("®DIMMs"), Mini-RDIMMs and ECC Unbuffered DIMMS ("UDMMSs"). Our
offerings come in configurations of up to 244 pam&l densities of up to 16GB and include very lowefig ("VLP"), form factors, which
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we pioneered using proprietary board-stacking teldgy. We utilize our advanced device and modele! packaging/stacking technologies
achieve cost-effective high-density solutions. DR, DDR2 and DDR3 DIMMs are tested at-speed oht@gd functional testers utilizing
comprehensive test suites that simulate electaicdlthermal performance, enabling these modulesete the stringent quality requirements of
high performance enterprise class devices andragste

RDIMM

RDIMMs are used in all servers where latgasities are required. RDIMMS also provide inceglagliability, stability and scalability. In
addition to providing primary volatile system memowe provide custom RDIMMs that are used in RAkhtollers, or Redundant Array of
Independent Disks. We offer DDR, DDR2, and DDR3 KM in a variety of form factors, including VLP forfactors.

In November 2009, we introduced the innweaHyperCloud™ DDR3 RDIMM memory technology. Hy@doud™ utilizes an ASIC
chipset that incorporates Netlist patented rankiplidation technology that increases memory cdyaaid load reduction functionality that
increases memory bandwidth. The product is avalabiGB, 8GB, and 16GB capacities at speeds U838 megatransfers per second
("MT/s"). We expect that this achievement will makessible improved levels of performance for menintgnsive datacenter applications and
workloads, including search engines, social netafadmmunications, media internet portals, virtulan, and high performance scientific
defense-related computing. HyperCloud™ memory isgevaluated by several of our OEM customers &ar in their server products. The
HyperCloud™ DDR3 RDIMM is interoperable with Jollectronics Devices Engineering Council ("JEDEG8nslard DDR3 RDIMMSs. As ¢
January 2, 2010, we have not shipped any produgtiantities of the HyperCloud™ RDIMM.

FBDIMM

DDR2 FBDIMM is a high-density, high-speeémmory solution used primarily in high-performandade servers, computing clusters,
high-end enterprise servers, and telecommunicatppfications. FBDIMM based servers were introduiogéad the market in 2006. However,
FBDIMM technology posed a significant thermal cbhalje, especially in higher density DIMMs, due te #dvanced Memory Buffer
("AMB"), and the number of DRAM ICs on the modul¥e addressed these challenges with the introducofitime low-power FBDIMM in
2007.

We offer power efficient DDR2 FBDIMM solotis in 2GB, 4GB and 8GB capacities at speeds ®C®-6400 or 800MT/s. In addition to
our thermal engineering, we use a set of sophtsticdesign techniques such as impedance matcleitigced capacitive loading and buiiltair
gaps (to eliminate cross talk and electro-magrstipling) to create a high performance FBDIMM thalivers up to PC2-6400 performance.

It is our belief that the DDR3 RDIMM arckdture has and will continue to take the placeRIDRMM as the cost/performance
requirements of all but legacy server product affgs result in migration to DDR3 SDRAM-based modul&s a result of this trend and
introduction by competitors of low-power FBDIMMsgvhave experienced a significant decrease in regeofiour FBDIMM product
offerings, and we expect this trend to continue.

SODIMM

Our SODIMM options help increase the cajiesiof laptop computers and workstations at ogdtooat. In fiscal 2009, we experienced
strong competition in the mass market for SODIMNlagations from DRAM suppliers. As a result, our BI™MM revenues have decreased
substantially. We anticipate that as we focus éfarts on the custom, nostandardized segments of the market, the reversoeiased with oL
SODIMM products will decline.
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Mini-RDIMM

Mini-RDIMMSs utilize a shortened footprird tneet the unique requirements of communicatioptiggtions with space constraints. We
offer DDR2 Mini-RDIMM solutions in capacities of up 8GB.

NAND Flash Memory Cards and Modu

NAND flash products are solid-state, elieelty re-writeable, non-volatile semiconductor n@mdevices that retain content when power
is turned off. NAND flash sales were 7.1% and 1@&%he Company's total net sales in fiscal 2009 200@B, respectively. NAND flash
memory devices record, store and retrieve digash it faster read/write speeds, with lower powasumption and improved durability,
compared with hard drives, thereby offering greptformance in lower capacity storage applications

We design and manufacture Industrial Freddld-state memory products, which are based da efethe art single and dual channel 32 bit
reduced instruction set computer ("RISC") microcolters, in a variety of form factors and capagitibat meet the requirements of industrial
OEMs' applications. Our flash modules are predontigaised in telecom equipment, printers, embedubedroller applications, servers,
switches and routers. Our wide range of flash mgmooducts includes the Compact-Flash cards, Sdgigital (SD), and MicroSD. Our
relationships with numerous suppliers of flash eodtroller application specific integrated circuaiow us to offer a wide range of cost-
effective products to our customers. With prodwefgrmance and sustained read across multiple factors such as Compact Flash, our
product line is designed to meet individualizedtoner requirements and complements our suite of MRWoducts.

At end of February 2010, we expect to ameewyeneral availability of Netvadl! , a non-volatile cache memory subsystem targeting
RAID storage applications. NetvVadl¥ provides server and storage OEMSs a solution foaeoid datacenter fault recovery. Unlike traditional
battery-powered fault tolerant cache schemes wieitshsolely on batteries to power the cache, NetvVA{iutilizes a combination of DRAM
for high throughput performance and flash for estmhdata retention. With NetVadlf' , data recovery can be performed after an extended
period, versus traditional schemes which often oapreserve cache data for more than 24 to 72 lduego battery life limitations.

In addition, NetVault™ decreases system downtime often required durirtgrdyatealth monitoring and replacement. Traditidaalt
tolerant cache schemes require large watt-houetistto power the cache over a period of daysregseNetVaulfM requires power for less
than a minute. This flexibility allows OEMs to edthuse smaller, lower cost batteries without fredirealth monitoring and replacement, or to
deploy NetVault™ PMU capacitor technology to eliminate these baitesgltogether and achieve full product complianite European Union
Restrictions on Hazardous Substances known as Bdé&nd environmental laws in other jurisdictionattare based on RoHS 6/6.

Technology

We have a portfolio of proprietary techrgés and design techniques and have assembledyareering team with expertise in
semiconductors, printed circuit boards, and mensahsystem and system design. Our technology comgieteinclude:

IC Design Expertise. We have designed blocks of custom logic thatlmimplemented in a stand-alone IC or integratighal other
functional blocks in ASICs. We use these custoniclbgpcks in the HyperCloud™ chipset to incorponatek multiplication and load reducti
functionality onto standard RDIMMs. We also incargte custom logic in our NetVadl¥ product line.

Very Low Profile Designs. We were the first company to create memory ystiess in a form factor of less than one inch iigite We
believe our proprietary board design technology is
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particularly useful in the blade server market, wehefficient use of motherboard space is critiGalr technology has allowed us to decreast
system board space required for memory, and impitwarenal performance and operating speeds, by iegadair customers to use alternative
methods of component layout.

Proprietary PCB Designs. We utilize advanced, proprietary techniquesgtimize electronic signal strength and integriiyhim a PCB.
These techniques include the use of 8- or 10-lagards, matching conductive trace lengths, a ma@chinumber of conductive connectors, or
vias, and precise load balancing to, among ottieg¢h help reduce noise and crosstalk between edjaaces. In addition, our proprietary
designs for the precise placement of intra-sulesttamponents allow us to assemble memory subsyst@msignificantly smaller physical
size, enabling OEMs to develop products with smddietprints for their customers.

Planar Design. Our planar solutions are designed to providd liensity solutions in a more cost-effective marhan traditional chip-
stacking. We believe traditional chip-stacking cepresent a significant portion of the total cdsht smemory subsystem. Our planar solutions
achieve the same densities as chip-stacked moduteto so by leveraging our PCB design expertiggaoe ICs in two rows in the same plane
rather than on top of each other. Our planar meraobgystem designs feature high memory capacityimiproved thermal characteristics by
dissipating heat uniformly throughout the PCB.

Advanced Planar Designs.We plan to extend our planar design capalslitiedevelop very high density memory subsysternes@&
advanced planar designs may allow us to build nardsdlutions at lower costs compared to other pginigatechnologies. Additionally, these
advanced planar solutions may remove heat genebgitetemory components in a more effective manndrcam be used to build memory
subsystems in a number of densities and form factor

Thermal Management DesignsWe design our memory subsystems to ensuretigfidueat dissipation. We use thermal cameras to
obtain thermal profiles of the memory subsystenirduthe design phase, allowing us to rearrange oompts to enhance thermal
characteristics and, if necessary, replace compsrieat do not meet specifications. We use thesmallation and modeling software to create
comprehensive heat transfer models of our memdrgysiems, which enables our engineers to quicklglde accurate solutions for potential
thermal issues. We also develop and use propribeay spreaders to enhance the thermal managehsacteristics of our memory
subsystems.

Customers

We primarily market and sell our productdeading OEMs in the server, high performance aating and communications markets. Our
memory subsystems are incorporated into multipdf@ims at customers such as Dell, Arrow Electraritewlett-Packard and other
OEMSs. Consistent with the concentrated nature ®QEM customer base in our target markets, a smaiber of large customers have
historically accounted for a significant portionafr net sales. Dell and Arrow Electronics représg@approximately 53% and 13%,
respectively, of our net sales in fiscal 2009. ekl Hewlett Packard represented approximately 88&632%, respectively, of our net sales in
fiscal 2008. For further information regarding @ates to our OEM customer base, please refer te Ndbf Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements included in Part IV, Item 15 of this &&pNet sales to some of our OEM customers incluéenory modules that are qualified by
us directly with the OEM customer and sold to etaut manufacturing services providers ("EMSs"},if@orporation into products
manufactured exclusively for the OEM customer. Ehest sales to EMSs have historically fluctuateriogeto period as a portion of the total
net sales to these OEM customers. Net sales taHddRrecision Industry Co. Ltd., an EMS operatimgler the trade name of Foxconn that
purchases memory modules from us for incorpordtitmproducts manufactured exclusively for Delpnesented approximately 76% and 1
of net sales to Dell for fiscal 2009 and 2008, ezsipely.
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We expect that our key customers will coudi to account for a substantial portion of oursad¢s in 2010 and in the foreseeable future.
The composition of major customers and their rehpecontributions to our net sales have varied ailidikely continue to vary from period
to period. Our sales are made primarily pursuastaadard purchase orders that may be rescheduledatively short notice. Customers are
generally allowed limited rights of return for up30 days, except for sales of excess inventonibssh contain no right-of-return privileges.
Estimated returns are provided for at the timeaté ased on historical experience or specifictifieation of an event necessitating a reserve.
We offer a standard product warranty to our custsraed have no other post-shipment obligations.I&\these returns have historically been
within our expectations and the provisions establis we cannot guarantee that we will continuexpegence similar return rates in the future.
Any significant increase in product failure ratesighe resulting product returns could have a nedtadverse effect on our operating results
the period or periods in which such returns maliega

We offer warranties on our memory subsystgenerally ranging from one to three years, depgnah the product and negotiated terms
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctantés require us to repair or replace defectioglpct returned to us during such warre
period at no cost to the customer. Our estimatew&oranty related costs are recorded at the tihsale based on historical and estimated
future product return rates and expected repaieplacement costs. While such costs have histtribakn within our expectations and the
provisions established, unexpected changes irréailtes could have a material adverse impact preqgeiring additional warranty reserves,
and adversely affecting our gross profit and groasgins.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products througlrectisales force and a network of independentgaigresentatives. Our sales activities focus
primarily on developing strong relationships at thehnical, marketing and executive managementdevighin market-leading OEMs. These
OEMs design systems for a variety of applicatidra tequire a significant number of high performeamemory subsystems, representing
substantial opportunities for us. We have beenessfal in developing OEM relationships through ahbitity to provide high performance
memory subsystems. Our direct sales group anddighdication engineers work closely with our OEMstmumers at an early stage of their
design cycles to solve their design challengestamigsign our products into their systems.

We believe in the timely communication axg¢hange of information with our customers. Wezdilwell-trained, highly technical
program management teams to successfully drivepmeduct development and quickly respond to ourarasts' heeds and expectations. Our
program management teams provide quick respongs timd act as a single point-of-contact for roussaes during the sales process.
Additionally, they address the long-term business technology goals of our customers. We emplaaatapproach to business development
whereby our sales team and independent represesgtédientify, qualify and prioritize customer presgs through offices in a number of
locations worldwide. For additional information eeding our net sales from external customers byggghic area, refer to Note 14 of Note:
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Rartem 15 of this Report.

Our marketing efforts are twofold: createngareness of the benefits of our proprietary tetdgies and design techniques in the
development of application-specific memory subsysteand building our brand awareness with our ctiimed potential customers.

Manufacturing

We currently manufacture substantiallyodlbur products at our facilities in Suzhou in #eople's Republic of China ("PRC"). Our
advanced engineering and design capabilities, ceaabivith our in-house manufacturing processeswalle to assemble our memory
subsystems reliably and in
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high volume. Our advanced, customized manufactUenijties are capable of surface mount assentlpsystem testing, system-level bimn-
testing, programming, marking, labeling and packggAt each stage of the production cycle, inclgdinoduct prototyping, qualification
sample production and high-volume manufacturing deltvery, we focus on providing our customers wépid response and short
manufacturing turn-around times. Manufacturing eytahes for our products are typically one weeless, and in some cases as few as two
days, from receipt of order.

During 2008, we transitioned our manufaaiito our facility in the PRC. This facility hamgeificantly increased our manufacturing
capacity. We believe that this facility enablesaiachieve better operating leverage through laonaterial and labor costs. This facility also
puts our products in closer proximity to a numbkowr end customers, allowing us to fulfill custanoeders more quickly. For information
regarding our net long-lived assets located outdiddJnited States, refer to Note 14 of Notes tasdtidated Financial Statements included in
Part 1V, Item 15 of this Report.

We acquire components and materials su&s#8s, DRAM ICs and NAND directly from integratedcuit manufacturers and assemble
them into finished subsystems. We believe thatadreir key strengths is the efficient procuremend management of components for our
subsystems, which benefits our customers in tha fafrlower costs and increased product availabilte have a limited number of suppliers,
which include but are not limited to, Micron Semduictor, Hynix Semiconductor, Samsung Electroracsl Elpida Memory, Inc. We have
developed strong supplier relationships with therse other key DRAM IC and NAND manufacturers, whied believe gives us direct and
ready access to the critical components that wd fa@eour production activities. We typically quglour products with our customers using
multiple manufacturers of DRAM ICs and NAND. TheXibility to choose from several DRAM IC and NANDgviders allows us to minimi:
product cost and maximize product availability. ®lyperCloud™ RDIMM contains an ASIC chipset compuon&Ve intend to procure these
ASICs from multiple IC vendors that are in varyistgges of chipset development.

We schedule production based on purchater aommitments and anticipated orders. We releagenaterials to the manufacturing floor
by means of an on-line shop floor control systemictv allows for internal quality analysis, directass to inventory information and
production floor material tracking. We have a fldgi manufacturing workforce which allows us to ngamanforecasted demand. In additior
order to mitigate inventory risks, we have the ¢dlig to sell excess quantities of component ineey of DRAM ICs and NAND to
distributors and other users of memory ICs. Ouessaf excess inventory generated approximately #&tionet sales for fiscal 2009 and 1%
our net sales for fiscal 2008. As compared to tleipus year, component inventory sales increaseudegpurchased inventory for an expected
transaction that was not consummated.

Our quality assurance engineers work withsuppliers to ensure that the raw materials weive meet our high quality standards. These
engineers also perform onsite supplier factorytguatid use our internal test and inspection systemerify that purchased components and
materials meet our specifications. Our suppliediguprogram and incoming material quality contpsbgram are important aspects of our
overall manufacturing process.

We perform ongoing reliability testing oaranemory subsystems and share the results ofast@ttg with our customers. We believe that
this improves the system design process and aflomtbe elimination of potential problems at thelieat possible stage. In addition, we have
implemented procedures which require that all afrmemory subsystems undergo functional and system-in testing prior to delivery to the
customer. We complement our test capabilities aithianced imaging technology to inspect the quafityur microBGA assemblies.

We are certified in 1ISO 9001:2000 Qualitahdhgement Systems, 1ISO 14001:2004 Environmentablyjianment Standards, and OSHAS
18001:2007 Occupational Health and Safety Manage®ystems.
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Competition

Our products are primarily targeted for seever, high performance computing and commumnatmarkets. These markets are intensely
competitive, as numerous companies vie for busioppsrtunities at a limited number of large OEMsir @rimary competitors are memory
module providers such as STEC, SMART Modular Tetgies, Inc., and Viking Interworks, a division 8anmina-SCI Corporation. We face
competition from semiconductor suppliers, includitgnix, Samsung and Micron, in a limited range pplications. We also face potential
direct or indirect competition from logic suppliesgch as Inphi and IDT. As we enter new marketspamdue additional applications for our
products, we may face competition from a larger benof competitors that produce solutions utilizgigilar or competing technologies.

Certain of our competitors have substagtgteater financial, technical, marketing, distion and other resources, broader product lines,
lower cost structures, greater brand recognitiahlanger standing relationships with customers sugpliers. Some of our competitors may
also have a greater ability to influence industandards than we do, as well as more extensivaipatetfolios.

Some of our customers and suppliers mag Ipagprietary products or technologies that arepmditive with our products, or could
develop internal solutions or enter into strateglationships with, or acquire, existing high-dénsnemory module providers. Any of these
actions could reduce our customers' demand fopmducts. Some of our significant suppliers of mgm@E&s may be able to manufacture
competitive products at lower costs by leveragimgrnal efficiencies, or could choose to reducesoyoply of memory ICs, adversely affecting
our ability to manufacture our memory subsystema timely basis, if at all.

Our ability to compete in our current targerkets and in future markets will depend inéapgrt on our ability to successfully develop,
introduce and sell new and enhanced products onedytand cost-effective basis, and to responchinging market requirements. We believe
that the principal competitive factors in the sétacof high performance memory subsystems by pgiatecustomers are:

. understanding of OEM system and business requiresy
. timeliness of new value-add product introductions;

. design characteristics and performance;

. quality and reliability;

. track record of volume delivery;

. credibility with the customer;

. fulfillment capability and flexibility; anc

. price.

We believe that we compete favorably wébpect to these factors. We expect, however, thratworent and future competitors could
develop competing products that could cause artegli sales or loss of market acceptance of oudymts.

Research and Development

The market for high performance memory gatesns is constantly changing and therefore coatiswlevelopment of new technology,
processes and product innovation is mandatory gubeessful as a leading supplier. We believettigtontinued and timely development of
new products and improvement of existing producgscaitical to maintaining our competitive positiddur team of engineers focuses on
developing custom semiconductor logic devices anduywcts with innovative thermal solutions, packggsolutions and improved electrical
signal integrity that enhances reliability
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over the life of the system and achieves higheedp@nd lowers power consumption. Also, our engii@eorporate various new techniques
and methodologies for testing as well as new pseEsefor manufacturing our products.

Our engineering staff closely engages withOEM partners and their engineering teams & stages in their system development. This
collaboration allows our engineers to understaedctistomer's system architecture, power budgetatipg environment such as air flow and
operating temperature and any mechanical constrantr engineers use this information to providielgince and solutions to implement
optimum memory subsystems to our OEM partners.npoirtant aspect of our research and developmemt éffto understand the challenges
faced by our OEM partners and provide cost effecsivlutions that satisfy their requirements byizitiy our industry knowledge, proprietary
technologies and technical expertise.

We use advanced design tools in developwofentr products that allow us to model behavioaaignal trace on our memory modules as
well as airflow and thermal profiles of all compaoitein the system. These design tools enable iraaldimulation for signal integrity and
behavioral modeling of our designs using the Ifputput Buffer Information Specification ("IBIS") afur suppliers’ components. These
simulation tools help us reduce or eliminate etattr signal reflections, clock skews, signal jitéerd noise which can reduce system
performance and reliability. Also, our engineers tleermal simulation tools to identify potentiagtial problems arising from inadequate
airflow necessary to cool the components in théesysThese efforts allow our engineers to devefamam thermal solutions for our
customer base.

We believe that to remain competitive westreontinue to focus on developing advanced mensatynologies. We have invested
significant resources in the design of custom sendactor logic devices. These logic devices aregirdted into our next-generation memory
subsystems in order to improve their performance example, our HyperCloud™ logic devices enable@RAM-based subsystems to
achieve higher speeds and address greater menpmagitgathan currently available products in the kearAnother family of logic devices
enable DRAM and flash memory to be efficiently canglal for the purposes of backing up data storabe.development of these
semiconductor devices are an important part oowerall effort to maintain a strong competitive pio in our industry based on advanced
memory technology.

Our customers typically do not separatelmpensate us for design and engineering work iragbla developing application-specific
products for them. Our total expenditures for reseand development were approximately $8.0 mildad $6.9 million for 2009 and 2008,
respectively.

Intellectual Property

Our high performance memory subsystemsleveloped in part using our proprietary intelleCpuaperty, and we believe that the strer
of our intellectual property rights will be impontato the success of our business. We utilize pateth trade secret protection, confidentiality
agreements with customers and partners, discl@wénvention assignment agreements with emplogeé<onsultants and other contractual
provisions to protect our intellectual property ander proprietary information.

As of January 2, 2010, we had 14 patestseid and 16 patent applications pending. Assunhiaigthey are properly maintained, four of
our issued patents will expire in 2022, seven @ilpire in 2025, one will expire in 2026, and twdlwkpire in 2027. Our issued patents and
patent applications relate to the use of custorit limghigh performance memory subsystems, PCB detagout and packaging techniques.
intend to actively pursue the filing of additionetent applications related to our technology adearents. While we believe that our patent
and other intellectual property rights are impotrtanour success, our technical expertise andtaldiintroduce new products in a timely
manner also will continue to be important factorsleveloping and maintaining our competitive
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position. Accordingly, we believe that our businiessot materially dependent upon any one claimmny of our pending patent applications.

Despite our precautions, a third party meserse engineer, copy or otherwise obtain ancdus@roducts, services or technology without
authorization, develop similar technology indepenilyeor design around any patents issued to usteTten be no assurance that our efforts
taken to prevent misappropriation or infringemeindur intellectual property by third parties haveeh or will be successful.

Employees

At January 2, 2010, we had approximately édployees (including 83 regular employees anttdtporary employees). Approximately
47 of the regular employees were located in the, &1 approximately 36 were located in other caoesi{mainly in the PRC). We had 88
employees in operations, 22 employees in reseadil@velopment, 10 employees in sales and marketindy8 employees engaged in other
administrative functions. We are not party to aolfective bargaining agreements with any of our lExyges. We have never experienced a
work stoppage, and we believe our employee relat&a good.

General Information

We maintain a websitewatvw.netlist.congthis uniform resource locator, or URL, is an inaetextual reference only and is not intended
to incorporate our website into this Form 10-K). Y@ reports with the Securities and Exchange Cassion ("SEC"), and make available,
free of charge, on or through our website, our ahreports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on F&@nQ, current reports on Form 8-K, proxy
and information statements and amendments to ttepsets filed or furnished pursuant to Section 18¢al5(d) of the Securities Exchange ,
of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as seagaasonably practicable after we electronicaleydiich material with, or furnish it to, the
SEC. Our website also contains copies of our capagovernance policy, code of business conducethids, insider trading policy and
whistleblower policy, as well as copies of the ¢hiar for our audit committee, compensation commigied nominating and corporate
governance committee.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degrferisk. Before purchasing our common stock,srmuld carefully consider the ris
described below in addition to the other informatia this Report. Our business, results of operatjdinancial condition and future trends
may be materially and adversely affected depending variety of factors including, but not limiteg the following risks and uncertainties.
The risks described below are not the only onefaae Additional risks we are not presently awarerathat we currently believe are
immaterial may also impair our business operatiorise trading price of our common stock could dectine to any of these risks, and you
could lose all or part of your investment. In asseg these risks, you should also refer to theratifermation contained or incorporated by
reference in this Report, including our consolidhfmancial statements and related notes.

This Report contains forward-looking statementselasn the current expectations, assumptions, etsrand projections about our
industry and us. These forward-looking statememtslve risks and uncertainties. Our actual resutisild differ materially from those
discussed in these forward-looking statementsrasualt of certain factors, as more fully describedhis section and elsewhere in this Report.
Except as required by law, we do not undertakeptate publicly any forwar-looking statements for any reason, even if nearinétion
becomes available or other events occur in theréutu
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Risksrelated to our business

We expect a number of factors to cause our operatinresults to fluctuate on a quarterly and annual bais, which may make it difficult to
predict our future performance.

Our operating results have varied signiftbain the past and will continue to fluctuaterfr@uarter-to-quarter or year-to-year in the future
due to a variety of factors, many of which are m&/our control. Factors relating to our business thay contribute to these quarterly and
annual fluctuations include the following factoas, well as other factors described elsewhere énRbport:

. our inability to develop new or enhanced produlcég tichieve customer or market acceptance in dtimanner, including our
HyperCloud™ memory module and our flash-based mgmprducts;

. our failure to maintain the qualification of ourogilucts with our current customers or to qualifyufetproducts with our current
or prospective customers;

. the timing of actual or anticipated introductioriompeting products or technologies by us or aumgetitors, customers
suppliers;

. the loss of, or a significant reduction in salesatéey customer;

. the cyclical nature of the industry in which we oaie;

. a reduction in the demand for our high performamegnory subsystems or the systems into which theynaorporated

. our customers' failure to pay us on a timely basis;

. costs and efficiencies associated with designirthartsourcing the manufacture of integrated cisguit

. our ability to absorb manufacturing overhead if muenues decline or vary from our projectic

. delays in fulfilling orders for our products orailire to fulfill orders;

. our ability to procure an adequate supply of keyponents, particularly DRAM ICs and NAND;

. dependence on large suppliers who are also comrsetind whose manufacturing priorities may not suippur production
schedules;
. changes in the prices of our products or in thé gbthe materials that we use to build our produictcluding fluctuations in the

market price of DRAM ICs and NAND;

. our ability to effectively operate our manufactgrifacility in the PRC

. manufacturing inefficiencies associated with ttatstip of new manufacturing operations, new proslactd initiation of volume
production;

. our failure to produce products that meet the tyiadiquirements of our custome

. disputes regarding intellectual property rigt

. the costs and management attention diversion agedawith litigation;

. the loss of any of our key personnel;

. changes in regulatory policies or accounting pples;

. our ability to adequately manage or finance integnawth or growth through acquisitions; and
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. the effect of our investments and financing arramgrets on our liquidity.

Due to the various factors mentioned abawe, others, the results of any prior quarterlgromual periods should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future operating performanceotre or more future periods, our results of openatimay fall below the expectations of
securities analysts and investors. In that evaetptarket price of our common stock would likelgldee. In addition, the market price of our
common stock may fluctuate or decline regardlessuofoperating performance.

We have historically incurred losses and may contime to incur losses.

Since the inception of our business in 2088 have only experienced one fiscal year (2008) profitable results. In order to regain
profitability, or to achieve and sustain positiashk flows from operations in the future, we musthfer reduce operating expenses and/or
increase our revenues. Although we have in thegragged, and are continuing to engage, in a sefrigsst reduction actions, these expense
reductions alone may not make us profitable omalls to sustain profitability if it is achieved. Oability to achieve profitability will depend
on increased revenue growth from, among other ghimgreased demand for our memory subsystemsedatéd product offerings, as well as
our ability to expand into new and emerging markéts may not be successful in achieving the necgssaenue growth or the expected
expense reductions. Moreover, we may be unablediais past or expected future expense reductiosgtisequent periods. We may not
achieve profitability or sustain such profitabilifffachieved, on a quarterly or annual basis @ftture.

Any failure to achieve profitability coutdsult in increased capital requirements and pressu our liquidity position. Many companies
are experiencing difficulty in achieving accessapital in these challenging times. We believefature capital requirements will depend on
many factors, including our levels of net saleg,ttming and extent of expenditures to supportaegeand development activities, the
expansion of manufacturing capacity both domedyicaid internationally and the continued marketemtance of our products. Our capital
requirements could result in our having to, or otlige choosing to, seek additional funding thropgblic or private equity offerings or debt
financings, which funding may not be available emts acceptable to us, or at all, either of whimhla result in our inability to meet certain of
our financial obligations and other related comneifrts.

We are subject to risks relating to product concermition and lack of market diversification.

We have historically derived a substarg@tion of our net sales from sales of our highfgrenance memory subsystems for use in the
server market, with approximately 27% and 51% afraeenues in fiscal 2009 and 2008, respectivedyivedd from server applications. We
expect these memory subsystems to continue to atémua significant portion of our net sales i thear term. Continued market acceptance
of these products for use in servers is criticaluosuccess.

In an attempt to set our products aparnftbose of our competitors, we have invested afggnt portion of our research and
development budget into the design of ASIC devisash as the HyperCloudd! memory subsystem, introduced in November 2009. iévg
design and the products they are incorporatedardsubject to increased risks as compared toxastirgy products. For example:

. we may be unable to achieve customer or markeptaeee of the HyperClou® memory subsystem or other new products, or
achieve such acceptance in a timely manner;

. the HyperClouc™ memory subsystem or other new products may contaiently undiscovered flaws, the correction of et
would result in increased costs and time to maded;

. we will be required to demonstrate the quality egldhbility of the HyperCloud™ memory subsystem or other new products to
our customers, and will be required to qualify thesw
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products with our customers, both of which will uég a significant investment of time and resoumesr to the receipt of any
revenue from such customers.

Any failure or delay in placing or qualify new products with our customers would likelyutes reductions in our net sales and would
adversely impact our results of operations.

Additionally, if the demand for serverset@rates or if the demand for our products torfm®iporated in servers declines, our operating
results would be adversely affected, and we woelébbced to diversify our product portfolio and darget markets. We may not be able to
achieve this diversification, and our inabilitydo so may adversely affect our business.

We may lose our competitive position if we are undb to timely and cost-effectively develop new or éranced products that meet our
customers' requirements and achieve market acceptan.

Our industry is characterized by intensmpetition, rapid technological change, evolvingustly standards and rapid product
obsolescence. Evolving industry standards and tdogital change or new, competitive technologiaddoender our existing products
obsolete. Accordingly, our ability to compete i tluture will depend in large part on our abilityidlentify and develop new or enhanced
products on a timely and cost-effective basis, tangspond to changing customer requirements.dardo develop and introduce new or
enhanced products, we need to:

. identify and adjust to the changing requirementswfcurrent and potential customers;

. identify and adapt to emerging technological treadd evolving industry standards in our mark

. design and _introduce cost-effective, innovative padormance-enhancing features that differentateproducts from those of
our competitors;

. develop relationships with potential suppliers ofmfponents required for these new or enhanced prsi(

. qualify these products for use in our customeipcts; anc

. develop and maintain effective marketing strategies

Our product development efforts are coatlg inherently risky. It is difficult to foreseearges or developments in technology or
anticipate the adoption of new standards. Moreaweee these things are identified, if at all, wé meed to hire the appropriate technical
personnel or retain third party designers, devébepproduct, identify and eliminate design flawsg ananufacture the product in production
guantities either in-house or through third-pargnufacturers. As a result, we may not be able toessfully develop new or enhanced
products or we may experience delays in the dewedmp and introduction of new or enhanced produéays in product development and
introduction could result in the loss of, or delatygienerating, net sales and the loss of marlateskas well as damage to our reputation. Even
if we develop new or enhanced products, they mayne®t our customers' requirements or gain madeg@ance. Accordingly, we cannot
assure you that our future product developmenttsfioill result in the development of new or enhashproducts or that such products will
achieve market acceptance.

Our customers require that our products undergo aéngthy and expensive qualification process withowny assurance of net sales.

Our prospective customers generally magig@ificant commitment of resources to test anduata our memory subsystems prior to
purchasing our products and integrating them in&rtsystems. This extensive qualification prodeselves rigorous reliability testing and
evaluation of our products, which may continuedisrmonths or longer and is often subject to delaysddition to
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qualification of specific products, some of ourtousers may also require us to undergo a technajogjification if our product designs
incorporate innovative technologies that the custohas not previously encountered. Such technaogyifications often take substantially
longer than product qualifications and can taker avgear to complete. Qualification by a prospextiustomer does not ensure any sales t
prospective customer. Even after successful goatifin and sales of our products to a customengssin our products, our manufacturing
facilities, our production processes or our compoiseppliers may require a new qualification pre¢c@ghich may result in additional delays.

In addition, because the qualification mexis both product-specific and platform-specdiar, existing customers sometimes require us to
requalify our products, or to qualify our new prath) for use in new platforms or applications. Example, as our OEM customers transition
from prior generation DDR2 DRAM architectures taremt generation DDR3 DRAM architectures, we muesigh and qualify new products
for use by those customers. In the past, this gpoédesign and qualification has taken up tavgixths to complete, during which time our
sales to those customers declined significantlyer®dur products are qualified, it can take severahths before the customer begins
production and we begin to generate net sales. \W& devote substantial resources, including degiggineering, sales, marketing and
management efforts, to qualify our products witbgmective customers in anticipation of sales. Ifdeky or do not succeed in qualifying a
product with a prospective customer, we will notaide to sell that product to that prospect, whiciuld harm our operating results and
business.

Sales to a limited number of customers representsgnificant portion of our net sales and the lossfpor a significant reduction in sales
to, any one of these customers could materially har our business.

Sales to certain of our OEM customers sagbell, Hewlett Packard and Arrow Electronics hhigtorically represented a substantial
majority of our net sales. We currently expect gaes to major OEM customers will continue to espnt a significant percentage of our net
sales for the foreseeable future. We do not havg-term agreements with our OEM customers, or aiith other customer. Any one of these
customers could decide at any time to discontideerease or delay their purchase of our produttzddition, the prices that these customers
pay for our products could change at any time. [dke of any of our OEM customers, or a significautuction in sales to any of them, could
significantly reduce our net sales and adversdgcabur operating results.

Our ability to maintain or increase our sales to our key customers depends on a varidgctdrs, many of which are beyond our
control. These factors include our customers' oomeidl sales of servers and other computing systesihsiicorporate our memory subsystems
and our customers' continued incorporation of aodpcts into their systems.

Because of these and other factors, weataagsure you that net sales to these customdrsontinue or that the amount of such net sales
will reach or exceed historical levels in any fetgeriod. Because these customers account forstasitial portion of our net sales, the failure
of any one of these customers to pay on a timedishaould negatively impact our cash flow. In auldif while we may not be contractually
obligated to accept returned products, we may deterthat it is in our best interest to acceptnegun order to maintain good relations with
our customers.

A limited number of relatively large potential customers dominate the markets for our products.

Our target markets are characterized lyiaeld number of large companies. Consolidationnie or more of our target markets may
further increase this industry concentration. Assult, we anticipate that sales of our productsaentinue to be concentrated among a limited
number of large customers in the foreseeable fuWeebelieve that our financial results will dependignificant part on our success in
establishing and maintaining relationships withg affecting substantial sales to,
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these potential customers. Even if we establisbethelationships, our financial results will begkelly dependent on these customers' sales and
business results.

If a standardized memory solution which addressesie demands of our customers is developed, our netlss and market share may
decline.

Many of our memory subsystems are spedlfickesigned for our OEM customers' high performeasgstems. In a drive to reduce costs
and assure supply of their memory module demandO&M customers may endeavor to design JEDEC stdridlRAM modules into their
new products. Although we also manufacture JEDE@Qutss, this trend could reduce the demand for alrdr priced customized memory
solutions which in turn would have a negative imgatour financial results. In addition, customa@eploying custom memory solutions today
may in the future choose to adopt a JEDEC standadithe adoption of a JEDEC standard module idsiéa previously custom module
might allow new competitors to participate in arghaf our customers' memory module business treatiqusly belonged to us.

If our OEM customers were to adopt JEDEAR@ard modules, our future business may be limidédentifying the next generation of
high performance memory demands of OEM custometglareloping solutions that addresses such dembmdit fully implemented, this
next generation of products may constitute a muaéiller market, which may reduce our net sales aadet share.

We may not be able to maintain our competitive potibn because of the intense competition in our tasged markets.

We participate in a highly competitive metrkand we expect competition to intensify. Manyof competitors have longer operating
histories, significantly greater resources and neaaegnition, a larger base of customers and leegerding relationships with customers and
suppliers than we have. As a result, some of thes®etitors are able to devote greater resourcégetdevelopment, promotion and sale of
products and are better positioned than we aneflicence customer acceptance of their products eveproducts. These competitors also may
be able to respond better to new or emerging tdoies or standards and may be able to deliverymsdvith comparable or superior
performance at a lower price. For these reasonsnayenot be able to compete successfully agaiesetiiompetitors.

In addition to the competitors describedvad) some of our OEM customers have their own fireledesign groups that may develop
solutions that compete with ours. These designpggdiave some advantages over us, including diceetsa to their respective companies'
technical information and technology roadmaps. OEM customers also have substantially greater ressufinancial and otherwise, than we
do, and may have lower cost structures than owss Aesult, they may be able to design and manurgacbmpetitive products more efficiently
or inexpensively. If any of these OEM customerssarecessful in competing against us, our salesdatetline, our margins could be
negatively impacted and we could lose market stamg or all of which could harm our business arsliite of operations. Further, some of our
significant suppliers are also competitors, manwldm have the ability to manufacture competitiveducts at lower costs as a result of their
higher levels of integration.

We expect our competitors to continue tpriowe the performance of their current productdyce their prices and introduce new or
enhanced technologies that may offer greater padoce and improved pricing. If we are unable tocmat exceed the improvements mad
our competitors, our market position would detexierand our net sales would decline. In additiom,competitors may develop future
generations and enhancements of competitive predioat may render our technologies obsolete ormpetitive.
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We also expect to face competition from @& emerging companies that may enter our existirigture markets. These potential
competitors may have similar or alternative prodwehich may be less costly or provide additionatdiees.

Our operating results may be adversely impacted bworldwide economic and political uncertainties andspecific conditions in the
markets we address, including the cyclical naturefaand volatility in the memory market and semicondctor industry.

General worldwide economic conditions hexperienced a downturn due to the credit conditionmacted by the subprime-mortgage
turmoil and other factors, slower economic activitgncerns about inflation and deflation, increaseergy costs, decreased consumer
confidence, reduced corporate profits and captahding, adverse business conditions and liquatitycerns in the memory market, recent
international conflicts and the impact of naturisbgters and public health emergencies. Thesetogmmslimake it extremely difficult for our
customers, our vendors and us to accurately foracasplan future business activities, and theyiccoause U.S. and foreign businesses to
spending on our products and services, which whurttier delay and lengthen sales cycles.

Sales of our products are dependent uporadd in the computing, networking, communicatigméjter, storage and industrial markets.
These markets have been cyclical and are charaatieby wide fluctuations in product supply and decha hese markets have experienced
significant downturns, often connected with, omimicipation of, maturing product cycles, reductiagm technology spending and declines in
general economic conditions. These downturns haea haracterized by diminished product demandjymtion overcapacity, high inventory
levels and the erosion of average selling prices.

We may experience substantial period-teegleituctuations in future operating results dudactors affecting the computing, networking,
communications, printers, storage and industriaketa. A decline or significant shortfall in demandany one of these markets could have a
material adverse effect on the demand for our prted\s a result, our sales will likely decline ihgrthese periods. In addition, because many
of our costs and operating expenses are relatfixy, if we are unable to control our expensesjadeely in response to reduced sales, our
gross margins, operating income and cash flow wbealdegatively impacted.

During challenging economic times our costos may face issues gaining timely access tocsefffi credit, which could result in an
impairment of their ability to make timely paymetasus. If that were to occur, we may be requirethtrease our allowance for doubtful
accounts and our days sales outstanding would dpetimely impacted. Furthermore, our vendors max fimilar issues gaining access to
credit, which may limit their ability to supply cqranents or provide trade credit to us. We cannedipt the timing, strength or duration of any
economic slowdown or subsequent economic recovegidwide, or in the memory market and related semductor industry. If the econor
or markets in which we operate fail to improve ontinue to worsen, our business, financial condiiad results of operations will likely be
materially and adversely affected. Additionallye ttombination of our lengthy sales cycle coupletth whallenging macroeconomic conditions
could compound the negative impact on the restiltsipoperations.

Our lack of a significant backlog of unfilled orders, and the difficulty inherent in forecasting custoner demand, makes it difficult to
forecast our short-term production requirements tomeet that demand, and any failure to optimally calirate our production capacity
and inventory levels to meet customer demand couldversely affect our revenues, gross margins and regngs.

We make significant decisions regardingléwvels of business that we will seek and acceptyrction schedules, component procurement
commitments, personnel needs and other resourc@eetgnts, based on our estimates of customerregeants. We do not have long-term
purchase
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agreements with our customers. Instead, our custoaiten place purchase orders no more than twésieeadvance of their desired delivery
date, and these purchase orders generally havanmoeltation or rescheduling penalty provisions. $hert-term nature of commitments by
many of our customers, the fact that our custommexg cancel or defer purchase orders for any reaswhthe possibility of unexpected char
in demand for our customers' products each reducalility to accurately estimate future custonegjuirements for our products. This fact,
combined with the quick turn-around times that ggpleach order, makes it difficult to forecast punduction needs and allocate production
capacity efficiently. We attempt to forecast thended for the DRAM ICs, NAND, and other componergsdaed to manufacture our products.
Lead times for components vary significantly angeted on various factors, such as the specific supghd the demand and supply for a
component at a given time.

Our production expense and component pseclevels are based in part on our forecasts ofastomers' future product requirements
to a large extent are fixed in the short term. Asslt, we likely will be unable to adjust sperglom a timely basis to compensate for any
unexpected shortfall in those orders. If we ovémeatie customer demand, we may have excess rawialateentory of DRAM ICs and
NAND. If there is a subsequent decline in the @icEDRAM ICs or NAND, the value of our inventoryillall. As a result, we may need
write-down the value of our DRAM IC or NAND inventg which may result in a significant decreaseun gross margin and financial
condition. Also, to the extent that we manufacfareducts in anticipation of future demand that dogsmaterialize, or in the event a customer
cancels or reduces outstanding orders, we couldresqze an unanticipated increase in our finisheatlg inventory. In the past, we have ha
write-down inventory due to obsolescence, excesstifies and declines in market value below outxosny significant shortfall of customer
orders in relation to our expectations could hurt@perating results, cash flows and financial dtoral

Also, any rapid increases in productioruieggl by our customers could strain our resourogsraduce our margins. If we underestimate
customer demand, we may not have sufficient invgrad DRAM ICs and NAND on hand to manufacture eglogproduct to meet that dema
We also may not have sufficient manufacturing capad any given time to meet our customers' deradadrapid increases in production.
These shortages of inventory and capacity will leadelays in the delivery of our products, andowmald forego sales opportunities, lose
market share and damage our customer relationships.

Declines in our average sales prices, driven by \atlle prices for DRAM ICs and NAND, among other fa¢ors, may result in declines in
our revenues and gross profit.

Our industry is competitive and historigdilas been characterized by declines in averags pate, based in part on the market price of
DRAM ICs and NAND, which have historically constiéd a substantial portion of the total cost of m@mory subsystems. Our average sales
prices may decline due to several factors, inclgdivercapacity in the worldwide supply of DRAM aNAND memory components as a result
of worldwide economic conditions, increased mantufidicg efficiencies, implementation of new manutaitg processes and expansion of
manufacturing capacity by component suppliers.

Once our prices with a customer are netgatiave are generally unable to revise pricing whéit customer until our next regularly
scheduled price adjustment. Consequently, we gresex to the risks associated with the volatilitthe price of DRAM ICs and NAND
during that period. If the market prices for DRARIY and NAND increase, we generally cannot paspribie increases on to our customers for
products purchased under an existing purchase.okdex result, our cost of sales could increasecamdjross margins could decrease.
Alternatively, if there are declines in the prideDRAM ICs and NAND, we may need to reduce ourisglprices for subsequent purchase
orders, which may result in a decline in our expdgctet sales.
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In addition, since a large percentage ofsales are to a small number of customers thatrarearily distributors and large OEMs, these
customers have exerted, and we expect they witimoa to exert, pressure on us to make price caimes If not offset by increases in volu
of sales or the sales of newly-developed produdts mgher margins, decreases in average salesswiould likely have a material adverse
effect on our business and operating results.

We use a small number of DRAM IC and NAND suppliersaand are subject to risks of disruption in the supty of DRAM ICs and NAND.

Our ability to fulfill customer orders igpendent on a sufficient supply of DRAM ICs and N&Nvhich are essential components of our
memory subsystems. There are a relatively smallbeuraf suppliers of DRAM ICs and NAND, and we puash from only a subset of these
suppliers. We have no long-term DRAM or NAND suppbntracts. Our dependence on a small number @lisop and the lack of any
guaranteed sources of DRAM and NAND supply expastseveral risks, including the inability to dhtan adequate supply of DRAM ICs
and NAND, price increases, delivery delays and ppmiity.

The recent declines in customer demandevehues have caused us to reduce our purchaBé&Adfl ICs and NAND. Should we not
maintain sufficient purchase levels with some sigpp] our ability to obtain future supplies of ravaterials may be impaired due to the prac
of some suppliers to allocate their products tdamsrs with the highest regular demand.

From time to time, shortages in DRAM ICsl&AND have required some suppliers to limit thppy of their DRAM ICs and NAND.
As a result, we may be unable to obtain the DRAM ¢€ NAND necessary to fill customers' orders for products in a timely manner. If we
are unable to obtain a sufficient supply of DRAMsI@& NAND to meet our customers' requirements ghlestomers may reduce future orders
for our products or not purchase our productslatdlich would cause our net sales to decline arthhour operating results. In addition, our
reputation could be harmed, we may not be ablegtace any lost business with new customers, anthayelose market share to our
competitors.

Our customers qualify the DRAM ICs and NANDour suppliers for use in their systems. If ofi@ur suppliers should experience que
control problems, it may be disqualified by onevarre of our customers. This would disrupt our siggpbf DRAM ICs and NAND and reduce
the number of suppliers available to us, and mguire that we qualify a new supplier.

If the supply of other component materials used tonanufacture our products is interrupted, or if our inventory becomes obsolete, our
results of operations and financial condition couldoe adversely affected.

We use consumables and other componeutading PCBs, to manufacture our memory subsysté#essometimes procure PCBs and
other components from single or limited sourceske advantage of volume pricing discounts. Makshartages or transportation problems
could interrupt the manufacture of our productsrftime to time in the future. These delays in mantifring could adversely affect our results
of operations.

Frequent technology changes and the inttimlu of next-generation products also may resuthe obsolescence of other items of
inventory, such as our custom-built PCBs, whichldeaeduce our gross margin and adversely affecbperating performance and financial
condition. We may not be able to sell some proddetseloped for one customer to another customeausecour products are often designed to
address specific customer requirements, and ewea #re able to sell these products to anotheomest our margin on such products may be
reduced.
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A prolonged disruption of our manufacturing facility could have a material adverse effect on our busass, financial condition and
results of operations.

We maintain a manufacturing facility in tRRC for producing most of our products, whichwBaus to utilize our materials and proces
protect our intellectual property and develop #gwhhology for manufacturing. A prolonged disrupt@rmaterial malfunction of, interruption
in or the loss of operations at our manufacturengjlity, or the failure to maintain sufficient labfiorce at such facility, would limit our capacity
to meet customer demands and delay new productapewent until a replacement facility and equipméntecessary, were found. The
replacement of the manufacturing facility couldgan extended amount of time before manufactunpegadions could restart. The potential
delays and costs resulting from these steps caud h material adverse effect on our businessydinhcondition and results of operations.

If we are unable to manufacture our products efficéntly, our operating results could suffer.

We must continuously review and improve manufacturing processes in an effort to maintatisg&ctory manufacturing yields and
product performance, to lower our costs and toretlse remain competitive. As we manufacture momaiex products, the risk of
encountering delays or difficulties increases. $tat-up costs associated with implementing newufsoturing technologies, methods and
processes, including the purchase of new equipraedtany resulting manufacturing delays and inigfficies, could negatively impact our
results of operations.

If we need to add manufacturing capacityegpansion of our existing manufacturing facibtyestablishment of a new facility could be
subject to factory audits by our customers. Anyagelor unexpected costs resulting from this augitgss could adversely affect our net sales
and results of operations. In addition, we canmotértain that we will be able to increase our nfaeturing capacity on a timely basis or meet
the standards of any applicable factory audits.

We depend on third-parties to design and manufactue custom components for some of our products.

Significant customized components, sUCASKCs, that are used in some of our products as@ded and manufactured by third parties.
The ability and willingness of such third partiegperform in accordance with their agreements wilis largely outside of our control. If one
or more of our design or manufacturing partners fai perform its obligations in a timely mannerabisatisfactory quality levels, our ability to
bring products to market or deliver products to customers, as well as our reputation, could suffethe event of any such failures, we may
have no readily available alternative source opbufor such products, since, in our experience,léad time needed to establish a relationship
with a new design and/or manufacturing partnet Isast 12 months, and the estimated time for deM@ustomers to re-qualify our product
with components from a new vendor ranges from fourine months. We cannot assure you that we aasign, or cause to have redesigned,
our customized components to be manufactured mamanufacturer in a timely manner, nor can werasgou that we will not infringe on
the intellectual property of our current desigmmanufacture partner when we redesign the custonpeoents, or cause such components to be
redesigned by a new manufacturer. A manufacturisigigtion experienced by our manufacturing partnies failure of our manufacturing
partners to dedicate adequate resources to theigrod of our products, the financial instabilityaur manufacturing or design partners, or
other failure of our design or manufacturing parsrte perform according to their agreements withauld have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results adrafions.

We have many other risks due to our depeerlen third-party manufacturers, including: redlicentrol over delivery schedules, quality,
manufacturing yields and cost; the potential latkdequate capacity during periods of excess denamited warranties on products supplied
to us; and potential misappropriation of our irgetlal property. We are dependent on our manufagtpartners to
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manufacture products with acceptable quality andufecturing yields, to deliver those products taosa timely basis and to allocate a por

of their manufacturing capacity sufficient to meat needs. Although our products are designed ubmgrocess design rules of the particular
manufacturers, we cannot assure you that our metuufiag partners will be able to achieve or maim@&iceptable yields or deliver sufficient
guantities of components on a timely basis or aiaeptable cost. Additionally, we cannot assurethat our manufacturing partners will
continue to devote adequate resources to produgeroducts or continue to advance the process désannologies on which the
manufacturing of our products are based.

If our products do not meet the quality standards éour customers, we may be forced to stop shipments products until the quality
issues are resolved.

Our customers require our products to mgedt quality standards. Should our products neetisuch standards, our customers may
discontinue purchases from us until we are abtegsolve the quality issues that are causing ustoneet the standards. Such "quality holds"
could have a significant adverse impact on ourmaes and operating results.

If our products are defective or are used in defedte systems, we may be subject to warranty, producecalls or product liability claims.

If our products are defectively manufactljreontain defective components or are used inctieéeor malfunctioning systems, we could
subject to warranty and product liability claimsdgroduct recalls, safety alerts or advisory natia®hile we have product liability insurance
coverage, it may not be adequate to satisfy clarade against us. We also may be unable to obtaimdnce in the future at satisfactory rates
or in adequate amounts. Warranty and product itglmlaims or product recalls, regardless of thdfimate outcome, could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition andutapion, and on our ability to attract and retaustomers. In addition, we may determine th
is in our best interest to accept product retunnsricumstances where we are not contractuallygatdid to do so in order to maintain good
relations with our customers. Accepting productimes may negatively impact our operating results.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, our ¢ ustomers or our competitors might gain access to oproprietary designs, processes
and technologies, which could adversely affect owperating results.

We rely on a combination of patent protattitrade secret laws and restrictions on discesuprotect our intellectual property rights. '
have submitted a number of patent applicationsrdégg our proprietary processes and technologg. bt certain when or if any of the claims
in the remaining applications will be allowed. Tatel we have had only fourteen patents issued. Wadrto continue filing patent applications
with respect to most of the new processes and tdohies that we develop. However, patent proteatiay not be available for some of these
processes or technologies.

It is possible that our efforts to proteat intellectual property rights may not:

. prevent challenges to, or the invalidation or aineention of, our existing intellectual propertyhts;

. prevent our competitors from independently develgmEimilar products, duplicating our products asigaing around an
patents that may be issued to us;

. prevent disputes with third parties regarding owhgr of our intellectual property rights;

. prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and knowtochird parties or into the public domain;

. result in valid patents, including internationatqras, from any of our pending or future applicasipor

. otherwise adequately protect our intellectual prypeghts.
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Others may attempt to reverse engineery coptherwise obtain and use our proprietary tetthgies without our consent. Monitoring the
unauthorized use of our technologies is difficie cannot be certain that the steps we have takepraevent the unauthorized use of our
technologies. This is particularly true in foreigpuntries, such as the PRC, where we have establsmew manufacturing facility and where
the laws may not protect our proprietary rightgh® same extent as applicable U.S. laws.

If some or all of the claims in our patepplications are not allowed, or if any of our Ilgtetual property protections are limited in scope
by a court or circumvented by others, we could facecased competition with regard to our productsreased competition could significar
harm our business and our operating results.

We are involved in and expect to continue to be imlved in costly legal proceedings to defend againskaims that we infringe the
intellectual property rights of others or to enforce or protect our intellectual property rights.

As a general matter, the semiconductorshigithas experienced substantial litigation regaygiatent and other intellectual property rig
Lawsuits claiming that we are infringing othergeifectual property rights may be brought agairsstand we may have to defend against cl
of infringement or invalidity. We currently plan &xplore new technologies and to develop new prisdiac our existing markets, such as
communications, and for new markets, such as n&tngrBy making use of these new technologies andrang these new markets there is an
increased likelihood that others might allege thatproducts infringe on their intellectual progetights. Litigation is inherently uncertain, a
an adverse outcome could subject us to signifikalility for damages or invalidate our proprietaights. An adverse outcome also could fc
us to take specific actions, including causingais t

. cease manufacturing and/or selling products, argusertain processes, that are claimed to be gifrina third party"
intellectual property;

. pay damages (which in some instances may be tinnes tictual damages), including royalties on pagitare sales;

. seek a license from the third party intellectualgarty owner to use their technology in our produathich license may not be

available on reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign those products that are claimed to bagifrg a third party's intellectual property.

If any adverse ruling in any such mattesuss, any resulting limitations in our ability toanket our products, or delays and costs assor
with redesigning our products or payments of lieefees to third parties, or any failure by us teedep or license a substitute technology on
commercially reasonable terms could have a matadiatrse effect on our business, financial condligind results of operations.

There is a limited pool of experienced téchl personnel that we can draw upon to meet bimghneeds. As a result, a number of our
existing employees have worked for our existingatential competitors at some point during thefieeas, and we anticipate that a number of
our future employees will have similar work hisesi In the past, some of these competitors hawaeththat our employees misappropriated
their trade secrets or violated non-competitionam-solicitation agreements. Some of our competitoay threaten or bring legal action
involving similar claims against us or our existiegployees or make such claims in the future tegreus from hiring qualified candidates.
Lawsuits of this type may be brought, even if thisreo merit to the claim, simply as a strateggrain our financial resources and divert
management's attention away from our business.
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We also may find it necessary to litigagaiast others, including our competitors, custonaeid former employees, to enforce our
intellectual property and contractual and commeéragts including, in particular, our trade sesreds well as to challenge the validity and
scope of the proprietary rights of others. We cdaddome subject to counterclaims or countersugagus as a result of this litigation.
Moreover, any legal disputes with customers coalase them to cease buying or using our produdlglay their purchase of our products and
could substantially damage our relationship witnth

Any litigation, regardless of its outcomeuld be time consuming and costly to resolve, digar management's time and attention and
negatively impact our results of operations. Wencarassure you that current or future infringentdaims by third parties or claims for
indemnification by customers or end users of oodpcts resulting from infringement claims will Hm asserted in the future or that such
assertions, if proven to be true, will not matdyialdversely affect our business, financial comditor results of operations.

If we are required to obtain licenses to use thirgharty intellectual property and we fail to do so, ar business could be harmed.

Although some of the components used infioal products contain the intellectual properfyttord parties, we believe that our suppliers
bear the sole responsibility to obtain any rightd Bcenses to such third party intellectual propewhile we have no knowledge that any third
party licensor disputes our belief, we cannot asyou that disputes will not arise in the futurbeToperation of our business and our ability to
compete successfully depends significantly on oatinued operation without claims of infringementemands resulting from such claims,
including demands for payments of money in the fofprfor example, ongoing licensing fees.

We are also developing products to enter markets. Similar to our current products, we magg components in these new products that
contain the intellectual property of third partigéhile we plan to exercise precautions to avoidmging on the intellectual property rights of
third parties, we cannot assure you that disputkset arise.

If it is determined that we are requiredbtain inbound licenses and we fail to obtainrses, or if such licenses are not available on
economically feasible terms, our business, opaga#sults and financial condition could be sigrifidy harmed.

The flash memory market is constantly evolving andompetitive, and we may not have rights to manufaate and sell certain types of
products utilizing emerging flash formats, or we ma be required to pay a royalty to sell products utizing these formats.

The flash-based storage market is constantliergoing rapid technological change and evglumlustry standards. Many consumer
devices, such as digital cameras, PDAs and smargshare transitioning to emerging flash memorynfis, such as the Memory Stick, and
Picture Card formats, which we do not currently ofanture and do not have rights to manufactureh@lgh we do not currently serve the
consumer flash market, it is possible that cer@ivis may choose to adopt these higher-volume, l@est formats. This could result in a
decline in demand, on a relative basis, for otmedpcts that we manufacture such as CompactFl&lan8 embedded USB drives. If we
decide to manufacture flash memory products utilizmerging formats such as those mentioned, wéwvilequired to secure licenses to give
us the right to manufacture such products that nudye available at reasonable rates or at allelire not able to supply flash card formats at
competitive prices or if we were to have produdrdiges, our net sales could be adversely impaatdaur customers would likely cancel
orders or seek other suppliers to replace us.
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Our indemnification obligations for the infringement by our products of the intellectual property rights of others could require us to pa
substantial damages.

As is common in the industry, we currerithve in effect a number of agreements in which axelagreed to defend, indemnify and hold
harmless our customers and suppliers from damagksasts which may arise from the infringement by roducts of third-party patents,
trademarks or other proprietary rights. The scdioh indemnity varies, but may, in some instaptesdude indemnification for damages and
expenses, including attorneys' fees. Our insurdoes not cover intellectual property infringemdrite term of these indemnification
agreements is generally perpetual any time aftecigtion of the agreement. The maximum potentialuarhof future payments we could be
required to make under these indemnification agesgsnis unlimited. We may periodically have to mspto claims and litigate these types of
indemnification obligations. Although our suppliensy bear responsibility for the intellectual pragénherent in the components they sell to
us, they may lack the financial ability to standhipel such indemnities. Additionally, it may be dpdb enforce any indemnifications that they
have granted to us. Accordingly, any indemnificatitaims by customers could require us to incunifigant legal fees and could potentially
result in the payment of substantial damages, bbtvhich could result in a material adverse effatiour business and results of operations.

We depend on a few key employees, and if we lose thervices of any of those employees or are unabehire additional personnel, our
business could be harmed.

To date, we have been highly dependenherxperience, relationships and technical knovdexfgertain key employees. We believe
that our future success will be dependent on oilityato retain the services of these key employekevelop their successors, reduce our
reliance on them, and properly manage the transitfdheir roles should departures occur.

The loss of these key employees could disleylevelopment and introduction of, and negatiirapact our ability to sell, our products
and otherwise harm our business. We do not havéogmpnt agreements with any of these key emplogéss than Chun K. Hong, our
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairmathef Board. We do not carry "Key Man" life insurarmreany of our key employees.

Our future success also depends on outyetalattract, retain and motivate highly skilledgineering, manufacturing, other technical and
sales personnel. Competition for experienced peedda intense. We may not be successful in attrgetew engineers or other technical
personnel, or in retaining or motivating our exigtpersonnel. If we are unable to hire and retagireers with the skills necessary to keep
pace with the evolving technologies in our markets,ability to continue to provide our current gouats and to develop new or enhanced
products will be negatively impacted, which woulttin our business. In addition, the shortage of egpeed engineers, and other factors, may
lead to increased recruiting, relocation and corapgon costs for such engineers, which may exceeéxpectations and resources. These
increased costs may make hiring new engineergditfior may reduce our margins.

Historically, a significant portion of oworkforce has consisted of contract personnel. West considerable time and expense in trai
these contract employees. We may experience higbyar rates in our contract employee workforceictvimay require us to expend
additional resources in the future. If we convet af these contract employees into permanent eyepk) we may have to pay finder's fees to
the contract agency.
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We rely on third-party manufacturers' representatives and the failure of these manufacturers' represeatives to perform as expected
could reduce our future sales.

We sell some of our products to customersugh manufacturers' representatives. We are enafgredict the extent to which our
manufacturers' representatives will be successfoiarketing and selling our products. Moreover, ynafnour manufacturers' representatives
also market and sell competing products. Our rgmtasives may terminate their relationships wittauany time. Our future performance will
also depend, in part, on our ability to attractiddal manufacturers' representatives that wilbb& to market and support our products
effectively, especially in markets in which we hanat previously distributed our products. If we gatretain our current manufacturers'
representatives or recruit additional or replacemeenufacturers' representatives, our sales ancitipg results will be harmed.

The establishment and ongoing operation of our marfacturing facility in the PRC could expose us to n& and significant risks.

During fiscal 2007, we invested significéinte and effort in establishing a manufacturinglfey in the PRC and preparing it for full-scale
operations. This manufacturing facility became afienal in July 2007 and was successfully qualiigdccertain key customers at that time. As
of February 1, 2009, substantially all of our wenlile manufacturing production was being perforrimethe PRC. Language and cultural
differences, as well as the geographic distanae fsar headquarters in Irvine, further compounddifiéculties of running a manufacturing
operation in the PRC. Our management has limitpegence in creating or overseeing foreign openatiand this new facility may divert
substantial amounts of their time. We cannot asgouethat we will be able to maintain control opeoduct quality, delivery schedules,
manufacturing yields and costs as we increase atput We also have to manage a local workforcentay subject us to uncertainties or
regulatory policies and we remain subject to rigated to managing the increased production cgppuivided by the facility. Should
anticipated demand not materialize, the costseeélai having excess capacity would have an adweisact on our gross margins and opere
results.

Changes in the labor laws of the PRC ctddease the cost of employing the local workfoiidee increased industrialization of the PRC
could also increase the price of local labor. Eithfehese factors could negatively impact the sastings we currently enjoy from having our
manufacturing facility in the PRC.

In the future, some of our net sales magdrominated in Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"). The Ckgovernment controls the procedures
by which RMB is converted into other currenciesj annversion of RMB generally requires governmeamisent. As a result, RMB may not be
freely convertible into other currencies at alleén If the Chinese government institutes changesiirency conversion procedures, or imposes
restrictions on currency conversion, those actioag negatively impact our operations and could cechur operating results. In addition,
fluctuations in the exchange rate between RMB ar&l Wollars may adversely affect our expenses esults of operations as well as the value
of our assets and liabilities. These fluctuatiorayralso adversely affect the comparability of oerigad-toperiod results. If we decide to decl
dividends and repatriate funds from our Chineseaifmns, we will be required to comply with the peolures and regulations of applicable
Chinese law. Any changes to these procedures guudateons, or our failure to comply with those pedares and regulations, could prevent us
from making dividends and repatriating funds froamn €hinese operations, which could adversely affectfinancial condition. If we are able
to make dividends and repatriate funds from oun€ée operations, these dividends would be sulgjddiS. corporate income tax.

The PRC currently provides for favorabbe tates for certain foreign-owned enterprises ajpegan specified locations in the PRC. We
have established our PRC facility in such a taefad location.
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Should the PRC government enact a revised taxtstrydt is possible that we would not realize tidve benefits that we currently anticipate
this could adversely impact our operating results.

Economic, political and other risks associated witlinternational sales and operations could adverselgffect our net sales.

Part of our growth strategy involves maksades to foreign corporations and delivering aedpcts to facilities located in foreign
countries. To facilitate this process and to meetlong-term projected demand for our productshasee set up a manufacturing facility in the
PRC. Selling and manufacturing in foreign countsabjects us to additional risks not present withapmestic operations. We have begun
operating in business and regulatory environmentghich we have little or no previous experiences Will need to overcome language and
cultural barriers to effectively conduct our opéas in these environments. In addition, the ecdaesrof the PRC and other countries have
been highly volatile in the past, resulting in sfigant fluctuations in local currencies and othestabilities. These instabilities affect a number
of our customers and suppliers in addition to @ueiyn operations and continue to exist or may pagain in the future. International turmoil
and the threat of future terrorist attacks, botmdstically and internationally, have contributecgiouncertain political and economic climate,
both in the U.S. and globally, and have negatiwmlyacted the worldwide economy. The occurrencenefar more of these instabilities could
adversely affect our foreign operations and somauofcustomers or suppliers, each of which couldteeskly affect our net sales. In addition,
our failure to meet applicable regulatory requiratser overcome cultural barriers could resultrioduction delays and increased turn-around
times, which would adversely affect our business.

Our international sales are subject to rotis&s, including regulatory risks, tariffs anchet trade barriers, timing and availability of expo
licenses, political and economic instability, difflties in accounts receivable collections, diffies in managing distributors, lack of a
significant local sales presence, difficulties btaining governmental approvals, compliance withide variety of complex foreign laws and
treaties and potentially adverse tax consequeltesidition, the United States or foreign countriegy implement quotas, duties, taxes or ¢
charges or restrictions upon the importation oroetgtion of our products, leading to a reductiosates and profitability in that country.

Our operations could be disrupted by power outages)atural disasters or other factors.

Our current manufacturing facilities aredted in Suzhou, PRC. Due to this geographic cdration, a disruption of our manufacturing
operations, resulting from equipment failure, pofediures, quality control issues, human error,govnent intervention or natural disasters,
including earthquakes, fires or floods, could inipt or interfere with our manufacturing operati@ms consequently harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Sdignuptions would cause significant delays in stepts of our products and adversely affect
our operating results.

Our failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations could subject us to significant fines ahliabilities or cause us to incur
significant costs.

We are subject to various and frequentingjing U.S. federal, state and local and foreigregumental laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment, including thgseerning the discharge of pollutants into theaaid water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanuptafrdnated sites and the maintenance of a safe \amdpln particular, some of our
manufacturing processes may require us to handleli@spose of hazardous materials from time to tifoe.example, in the past our
manufacturing operations have used lead-basedrdoltlee assembly of our products. Today, we uad-feee soldering technologies in our
manufacturing processes, as this is required fodymsts entering the European Union. We
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could incur substantial costs, including clean-agts, civil or criminal fines or sanctions and dhparty claims for property damage or personal
injury, as a result of violations of, or noncomplka with, environmental laws and regulations. THass and regulations also could require us
to incur significant costs to remain in compliance.

Our internal controls over financial reporting may not be effective, which could have a significant ahadverse effect on our business.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act df28nd the rules and regulations of the SEC, wiieltollectively refer to as Section 404,
require us to evaluate our internal controls oirearfcial reporting to allow management to reporttarse internal controls as of the end of ¢
year. Section 404 will also require our independegtstered public accounting firm to attest to ¢fffectiveness of our internal controls o
financial reporting beginning in fiscal 2010. Effi#e internal controls are necessary for us to peedreliable financial reports and are
important in our effort to prevent financial fraud.the course of our Section 404 evaluations, vag identify conditions that may result in
significant deficiencies or material weaknesseswaadnay conclude that enhancements, modificatiomba@anges to our internal controls are
necessary or desirable. Implementing any such msatteuld divert the attention of our managemengl@anvolve significant costs, and may
negatively impact our results of operations.

We note that there are inherent limitationghe effectiveness of internal controls, as tteynot prevent collusion, management override
or failure of human judgment. If we fail to maintain effective system of internal controls or ifragement or our independent registered
public accounting firm were to discover materialakieesses in our internal controls, we may be untaljpeoduce reliable financial reports or
prevent fraud, and it could harm our financial dtind and results of operations, result in a losgeestor confidence and negatively impact
our stock price.

If we do not effectively manage future growth, ouresources, systems and controls may be strained andr results of operations may
suffer.

We have in the past expanded our operatlmth domestically and internationally. Any futgewth may strain our resources,
management information and telecommunication systamd operational and financial controls. To marfagure growth effectively,
including the expansion of volume in our manufaicifacility in the PRC, we must be able to imprarel expand our systems and controls.
We may not be able to do this in a timely or cdfative manner, and our current systems and ctsntnay not be adequate to support our
future operations. In addition, our officers hag&atively limited experience in managing a rapigipwing business or a public company. As a
result, they may not be able to provide the guidamecessary to manage future growth or maintaiméunarket position. Any failure to
manage our growth or improve or expand our existiygjems and controls, or unexpected difficultredaing so, could harm our business.

If we acquire other businesses or technologies ihe future, these acquisitions could disrupt our bugsess and harm our operating result
and financial condition.

We will evaluate opportunities to acquiresimesses or technologies that might complementwuwent product offerings or enhance our
technical capabilities. We have no experience quaimg other businesses or technologies. Acqoisitientail a number of risks that could
adversely affect our business and operating resnitkiding, but not limited to:

. difficulties in integrating the operations, techogikes or products of the acquired compar

. the diversion of management's time and attentiomfihe normal daily operations of the busini
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. insufficient increases in net sales to offset inse®l expenses associated with acquisitions orrachcompanies;

. difficulties in retaining business relationshipgwsuppliers and customers of the acquired compg

. the overestimation of potential synergies or ayelaealizing those synergies;

. entering markets in which we have no or limitedexignce and in which competitors have stronger etgr&sitions; and
. the potential loss of key employees of the acqui@dpanies

Future acquisitions also could cause usdor debt or be subject to contingent liabilitissaddition, acquisitions could cause us to issue
equity securities that could dilute the ownershepcgntages of our existing stockholders. Furtheemaequisitions may result in material
charges or adverse tax consequences, substangfelcision, deferred compensation charges, in-goesearch and development charges, the
amortization of amounts related to deferred stoggeld compensation expense and identifiable purdhasmgible assets or impairment of
goodwill, any or all of which could negatively afteour results of operations.

Incurring indebtedness could adversely affect ourash flow and prevent us from fulfilling our financial obligations.

On October 31, 2009, we entered into aitegpieement for a revolving credit facility. As &dnuary 2, 2010, we do not have outstanding
any indebtedness under this credit facility; howewe may incur debt which could have material egpugences, such as:

. requiring us to dedicate a portion of our cash ffowmn operations and other capital resources t¢ sietvice, thereby reducir
our ability to fund working capital, capital expétudes, and other cash requirements;

. increasing our vulnerability to adverse economid erdustry conditions;

. limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes and opportunities in, our businedsralustry, which may place
at a competitive disadvantage; and

. limiting our ability to incur additional debt on @&ptable terms, if at all.

Additionally, if we are unable to maintdiquidity levels, as defined in the credit agreemen if we were to default under our credit
agreement and were unable to obtain a waiver foin audefault, interest on the obligations wouldrae@t an increased rate. In the case of a
default, the lenders could accelerate our obligationder the credit agreement; however, acceleratilbbe automatic in the case of
bankruptcy and insolvency events of default.

Additionally, to the extent we have madiinompany loans to our subsidiaries and have ptkdgch loans to the lenders under the ¢
agreement, our subsidiaries would be required yaipaamount of the intercompany loans to the lendethe event we are in default under
credit agreement. Any actions taken by the lendgasnst us in the event we are in default undectedit agreement could harm our financial
condition. Finally, the credit facility containsrtain restrictive covenants, including provisioestricting our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, guarantee certain obligations, coeaesume liens and pay dividends.
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Our investments in auction rate securities are sulgict to risks which may cause losses and affect thguidity of these investments.

We hold certain investments in auction sseurities that have failed, or may in the futiaig their respective auctions. An auction failure
means that the parties wishing to sell their séiegrcould not do so. As a result of failed auctioour ability to liquidate and fully recover the
carrying value of our investments in the near teray be limited or not exist. If the issuers of #n@s/estments are unable to close future
auctions and their credit ratings deteriorate, ves im the future be required to record an impairnudiarge on these investments. We also may
be required to wait until market stability is regtth for these investments or until the final mayuoif the underlying notes (up to 30 years) to
realize our investments' cost value.

Risks related to our common stock

Our principal stockholders have significant votingpower and may take actions that may not be in thedst interest of our other
stockholders.

As of January 2, 2010, our executive officelirectors and 5% stockholders beneficially oimrtptal, approximately 49% of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, these suidkhs, acting together, have the ability to eselistantial influence over all matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, includihg tlection and removal of directors and any pregaserger, consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all of our assets and other corpdratesactions. This concentration of control ccwgddisadvantageous to other stockholders with
interests different from those of our executivaea#fs, directors and principal stockholders. Famgle, our executive officers, directors and
principal stockholders could delay or prevent aguésition or merger even if the transaction woudsh&fit other stockholders. In addition, this
significant concentration of share ownership mayeasely affect the trading price for our commorcktbecause investors may perceive
disadvantages in owning stock in companies withldtolders that have the ability to exercise sigaifit control.

Anti- takeover provisions under our charter documents andelaware law could delay or prevent a change of ntrol and could also limit
the market price of our stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylasentain provisions that could delay or prevenhange of control of our company or change
our board of directors that our stockholders migttsider favorable. In addition, these provisioogld limit the price that investors would be
willing to pay in the future for shares of our commstock. The following are examples of provisiarisch are included in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, each as amended:

. our board of directors is authorized, without pstwckholder approval, to designate and issue pegfestock, commonly
referred to as "blank check" preferred stock, witiiits senior to those of our common stock;

. stockholder action by written consent is prohibi

. nominations for election to our board of directarsl the submission of matters to be acted upondakisolders at a meeting are
subject to advance notice requirements; and

. our board of directors is expressly authorized &ke alter or repeal our bylaw

In addition, we are governed by the provisions eft®n 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Lakiclvmay prohibit certain business
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevigions in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, and of Delaware law, daubke it more difficult for stockholders or pot@hticquirors to obtain control of our
board of directors or initiate actions that areaggu by the then-current board of directors, indgdelaying or impeding a merger, tender
offer, or proxy contest or other change of control
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transaction involving our company. Any delay onyaetion of a change of control transaction or clesng our board of directors could pre\
the consummation of a transaction in which ourldtotders could receive a substantial premium dverthen-current market price for their
shares.

The price of and volume in trading of our common stck has and may continue to fluctuate significantly

Our common stock has been publicly tradedesNovember 2006. The price of our common stotkthe trading volume of our shares
volatile and have in the past fluctuated signifibariThere can be no assurance as to the prioghiah our common stock will trade in the
future or that an active trading market in our camrstock will be sustained in the future. The magptee at which our common stock trades
may be influenced by many factors, including butlmited to, the following:

. our operating and financial performance and praspéwluding our ability to achieve and sustaiofipability in the future;
. investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate

. the availability and level of research coveragarad market making in our common stock;

. changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatigmd by analysts;

. general financial and other market conditions;

. changing and recently volatile domestic and intéonal economic condition:

In addition, shares of our common stock duedpublic stock markets in general, have expedgdnand may continue to experience,
extreme price and trading volume volatility. Thélsetuations may adversely affect the market pateur common stock and a shareholders
ability to sell their shares into the market at desired time or at the desired price.

In 2007, following a drop in the price afrastock, securities litigation was initiated agaithe company. Given the historic volatility ofr
industry, we may become engaged in this type igiliton in the future. Securities litigation is exsive and time-consuming.

Failure to comply with NASDAQ's Listing Rules couldpotentially subject us to delisting from the NASDA Global Market.

If our common stock trades below $1.00gf&re for 30 consecutive trading days or if we tiee do not meet the requirements for
continued quotation on the NASDAQ Global Market (BIDAQ), such as those regarding corporate governaoceommon stock could be
delisted which would adversely affect the abilifyirovestors to sell shares of our common stock@ndd otherwise adversely affect our
business. During our fiscal year 2009, we wereimebmpliance with certain NASDAQ listing standareétated to the closing bid price of our
common stock and our corporate governance. Whilaave since come into compliance with the NASDASirig standards, there is no
assurance that we will maintain compliance withRe&SDAQ listing standards in the near future.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not Applicable.
Item 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located pr@agpmately 28,700 square feet of space in Irvidaljfornia, under a lease that expires in June
2011. We continue to lease approximately 8,500 rgoigget of space in Irvine, California that prevdtyuhoused our manufacturing facility
which we are
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currently subleasing to another tenant. This lexpéres in November 2010. We also currently leggeaximately 43,600 square feet of space
for our manufacturing facility in the PRC. This $esexpires March 2012. In addition, we lease défime a monthly basis in corporate office
centers located in Taiwan and Houston, Texas.

We believe that our current facilities ateequate for our current and expected operatiarthéonext twelve months and that additional
space can be obtained if needed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in the sectionsitted Federal Securities Class Action, CaliforDiarivative Action, Patent Claims and Trade
Secret Claim under Note 9 of Notes to Consolid&iedncial Statements, included in Part IV, ItemotBhis Report, is incorporated herein by
reference.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Secity Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of ggcholders in the three months ended Januar¥)202

PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

Our common stock began trading on The NA&D®&Iobal Market under the trading symbol "NLST"Mavember 30, 2006, and was not
publicly traded prior to that date. The followirapte sets forth the high and low sale prices ferammmon stock on the NASDAQ Global
Market for the periods indicated:

High Low

Year Ended January 2, 201(

Fourth Quarte $ 7.9¢ $ 0.5¢

Third Quartel 0.7¢ 0.3C

Second Quarte 0.5: 0.1€

First Quartel 0.3t 0.11
Year Ended January 3, 200¢

Fourth Quarte $ 1.1C $ 0.24

Third Quartel 2.0¢ 0.8¢

Second Quarte 1.7¢ 1.2C

First Quartel 2.2t 1.2C

As of February 15, 2010, there were appnately 16 holders of record of our common shares.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividem our capital stock. Our current credit fagifitohibits the payment of cash dividends.
Accordingly, we do not anticipate declaring or paycash dividends on our capital stock in the feeable future. Any payments of cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our boarddofctors, and will depend upon our results ofrapiens, earnings, capital requirements, legal
and contractual restrictions, and other factorsrasbrelevant by our board of directors.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the three months ended January 20 2@e did not make any purchases of our commarksto
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Corpensation Plans

Our board of directors and stockholdersehareviously approved our Amended and Restated EQ0@y Incentive Plan and our 2006
Equity Incentive Plan. Except as listed in the ¢ditlow, we do not have any equity based plankjdimg individual compensation
arrangements that have not been approved by ccktaitwers. The following table provides informatias of January 2, 2010 with respect to
shares of our common stock:

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted-average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation plans
of outstanding options, outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))

(@) (b) ©
Equity compensation plar
approved by security
holders 4,198,58. $ 2.3¢ 500,50((1)
Equity compensation plar
not approved by securi
holders 118,00((2)$ 2.8¢ —

Total 4,316,58 $ 2.41 500,50(

1) Subject to certain adjustments, beginning Janua®®10, we currently are able to issue a maximu, 590,000 shares
of common stock pursuant to awards granted unde2@@6 Equity Incentive Plan. That maximum numbgr w
automatically increase on the first day of eaclemdar year by the lesser of (i) 500,000 shareqigralich smaller
number of shares as may be determined by our ludatidectors prior to that date.

(2) Consists of:

0] 18,000 warrants to purchase shares of our comnoak &sued to non-employees for services rendé&®of
January 3, 2009, all warrants were fully vested exefcisable.

(i) 50,000 options to purchase shares of our commaik $sued to our Director of Business Development i
connection with his hiring in June 2009. The opsieast over a period of 4 years at an exercise @fi&0.35 per
share and contain a contractual term of 10 years fhe date of grant.

(i) 50,000 options to purchase shares of our commak steued to our Director of Applications in contiec with
his hiring in November 2009. The options vest av@eriod of 4 years at an exercise price of $6d¥3pare and
contain a contractual term of 10 years from the ddigrant.

See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants, included in Part IV, Item 15 of the Repfmnt,additional information on
equity compensation plans.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
During the three months ended January 20 2@e did not sell any unregistered securities.
Iltem 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data
As a Smaller Reporting Company, we arereqtired to make any disclosure pursuant to teis I6.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and the relate@s included elsewhere in this Form 10-K. In a@ddito historical consolidated financial
information, the following discussion and analysimitains forward-looking statements that involaksi, uncertainties, estimates and
assumptions. Our actual results could differ matiyifrom those anticipated by these forward-logkstatements and the events anticipated in
the forward-looking statements may not actuallyucEactors that could cause or contribute to tlifelences are discussed in "Risk Factors”
and elsewhere in this Form 10-K. Although we belighat the expectations reflected in these forwaading statements are reasonable, we
cannot guarantee future results, levels of actjyigrformance or achievements. We are under notdutpdate any of the forward-looking
statements after the date of this Form 10-K to @onfthese statements to actual results or to reflee occurrence of unanticipated events,
unless required by law.

Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high paréorce memory subsystems for the server, high pedece computing and communications
markets. Our memory subsystems consist of eithekMdRCs or NAND flash memory and other componentseasbled on a PCB.

We engage with our OEM customers from tudiest stages of new product definition, whichyides us unique insight into their full
range of system architecture and performance reqpgints. This close collaboration has also allovgetbevelop a significant level of syste
expertise. We leverage a portfolio of proprietaghnologies and design techniques, including efficplanar design, alternative packaging
techniques and custom semiconductor logic, to deliustom memory subsystems with high memory dgrsitall form factor, high signal
integrity, attractive thermal characteristics apd tost per bit. Our custom memory subsystems &flgideliver performance beyond the
industry standards established by the JEDEC.

Due to their importance to overall systewh#decture and performance, our products must nigudiengthy qualification reviews by our
OEM customers, which may last up to six months oremin addition, in order to establish large OEMtomers, we have typically been
required to demonstrate our ability to meet sstanhdards for quality, customer service and tunnaddime by first supplying less complex
products into a limited range of high volume apgtiions. Consistent with the concentrated natutee@fOEM customer base in our target
markets, a small number of large customers haverfdally accounted for a significant portion ofrmet sales. Dell and Arrow Electronics
represented approximately 53% and 13%, respectioélyur net sales in 2009. Dell and Hewlett Pagkapresented approximately 58% and
32%, respectively, of our net sales in 2008. Nkgtsstb some of our OEM customers include memoryutesdthat are qualified by us directly
with the OEM customer and sold to EMSs, for incogpion into products manufactured exclusively fog OEM customer. These net sales to
EMSs have historically fluctuated period by perasda portion of the total net sales to these OE8focners. Net sales to Hon Hai Precision
Industry Co. Ltd., an EMS operating under the tradime Foxconn that purchases memory modules frdior iscorporation into products
manufactured exclusively for Dell, represented agipnately 76% of our net sales to Dell for fisc@0® and approximately 11% of our net
sales to Dell for fiscal 2008.

Key Business Metrics

The following describes certain line item®ur consolidated statements of operations tteiraportant to management's assessment of
our financial performance:

Net Sales. Net sales consist primarily of sales of ouhhpgrformance memory subsystems, net of a provisioestimated returns unc
our right of return policies, which generally rangeto 30 days. We generally do not have long-teaas agreements with our customers.
Although OEM
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customers typically provide us with non-bindingdoasts of future product demand over specific peraf time, they generally place orders
with us approximately two weeks in advance of scledidelivery. Selling prices are typically negtag@monthly, based on competitive mai
conditions and the current price of DRAM ICs andMIA Purchase orders generally have no cancellatioascheduling penalty provisions.
We often ship our products to our customers' irggonal manufacturing sites. All of our sales téeddowever, are denominated in United
States ("U.S.") dollars. We also sell excess corapbimventory of DRAM ICs and NAND to distributoasd other users of memory ICs. As
compared to previous years, component inventogssamain a relatively small percentage of nessadea result of our efforts to diversify
both our customer and product line bases. Thisrsiiieation effort has also allowed us to use cormgs in a wider range of memory
subsystems. We expect that component inventorg sdlkecontinue to represent a minimal portion of met sales in future periods.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales includes the cost of materiaknufacturing costs, depreciation and amortinatf equipment,
inventory valuation provisions, stock-based compéaor, and occupancy costs and other allocated fixsts. The DRAM ICs and NAND
incorporated into our products constitute a sigatfit portion of our cost of sales, and thus out absales will fluctuate based on the current
price of DRAM ICs and NAND. We attempt to pass tigh such DRAM IC and NAND flash memory cost fludtaas to our customers by
frequently renegotiating pricing prior to the plaent of their purchase orders. However, the salespof our memory subsystems can also
fluctuate due to competitive situations unrelatethe pricing of DRAM ICs and NAND, which affectsogs margins. The gross margin on our
sales of excess component DRAM IC and NAND inventemuch lower than the gross margin on our salesir memory subsystems. As a
result, a decrease in DRAM IC and NAND inventoriesas a percentage of our overall sales couldtriesan improved overall gross margin.
We assess the valuation of our inventories on atimhpbasis and record a provision to cost of sakesecessary to reduce inventories to the
lower of cost or net realizable value.

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expense consistsryimiaemployee and independent contractor
compensation and related costs, stock-based comjpmsnon-recurring engineering fees, computeedidesign software licenses, reference
design development costs, patent filing and priirdegal fees, depreciation or rental of evaluagguipment, and occupancy and other
allocated overhead costs. Also included in reseanchdevelopment expense are the costs of madedabverhead related to the production of
engineering samples of new products under developoreproducts used solely in the research andldpreent process. Our customers
typically do not separately compensate us for aeaigd engineering work involved in developing apgdiion-specific products for them. All
research and development costs are expensed aeohcWe anticipate that research and developmerrelitures will increase in future
periods as we seek to expand new product oppaesaniticrease our activities related to new andrgimg markets and continue to develop
additional proprietary technologies.

Selling, General and Administrative.Selling, general and administrative expensesisoprimarily of employee salaries and related
costs, stock-based compensation, independentreglieEssentative commissions, professional servgresnotional and other selling and
marketing expenses, and occupancy and other alldoaterhead costs. A significant portion of outisgleffort is directed at building
relationships with OEMs and other customers andimgrthrough the product approval and qualificatpwocess with them. Therefore, the ¢
of material and overhead related to products mawfed for qualification is included in selling exgses. As we continue to service existing
and establish new customers, we anticipate thasales and marketing expenses will increase. Begirin fiscal 2010, we will be subject to
attestation services requirements with respecttargernal control over financial reporting, thesult of which will increase legal and
accounting expenses in future periods.
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Provision (Benefit) for Income TaxesThe federal statutory rate was 35% for fis@02and 2008. Our effective tax rate differed from
the 35% statutory rate in fiscal 2008 primarily doghe establishment of a full valuation allowamacminst net deferred tax assets which ca
us to record a provision for income taxes. In fig209, we continued to provide a full valuatiotoalance against net deferred tax assets, and
accordingly, did not recognize an income tax beémefated to losses incurred. At January 2, 201DJamuary 3, 2009, we had unrecognize:
benefits of approximately $0.1 million and $0.6lioi, respectively. We reduced its unrecognizedaamefits by approximately $0.5 million
during fiscal 2009 as a result of a lapse in af@dsatute of limitations, resulting in an incotag& benefit. Our provision (benefit) for income
taxes is further discussed in Note 8 to the Codat#d Financial Statements, included in Part I&nltl5 of this Report.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated finahstatements in conformity with accounting prineggenerally accepted in the U.S. require
to make estimates and assumptions that affecefirted amounts of assets and liabilities and asecks of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememtsthe reported amounts of net sales and expensieg dhe reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject tharent degree of uncertainty. We base our estsateur historical experience, knowledge
of current conditions and our beliefs of what coodttur in the future considering available inforimat We review our estimates on an on-
going basis. Actual results may differ from thesgneates, which may result in material adversectsfen our operating results and financial
position. We believe the following critical accoungt policies involve our more significant assumps@and estimates used in the preparation of
our consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognition.We recognize revenues in accordance with tharfeéial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Accaogt
Standards Codification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingve recognize revenues when there is persuasience that an arrangement, product
delivery and acceptance have occurred, the salesiprfixed or determinable, and collectibility thie resulting receivable is reasonably
assured.

We generally use customer purchase ordet®acontracts as evidence of an arrangementv@®gloccurs when goods are shipped for
customers with FOB Shipping Point terms and upaeeipe for customers with FOB Destination termsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents aed tsverify delivery and customer acceptance. ¥éess whether the sales price is fixed or
determinable based on the payment terms assoeidtethe transaction and whether the sales prisaligect to refund.

Customers are generally allowed limitedhtsgof return for up to 30 days, except for safesxgess inventories, which contain no right-of-
return privileges. Estimated returns are providedat the time of sale based on historical expedger specific identification of an event
necessitating a reserve. We offer a standard ptadarcanty to our customers and have no other gligiment obligations. While these sales
returns have historically been within our expeciagiand the provisions established, we cannot gtesdahat we will continue to experience
similar sales return rates in the future. Any digant increase in product return rates could reweaterial adverse effect on our operating
results for the period or periods in which suclumes materialize. We assess collectibility basethercreditworthiness of the customer as
determined by credit checks and evaluations, akagdghe customer's payment history.

Historically, a portion of our shipmentsreenade to third party inventory warehouses, oishahd we recognized revenue when the
inventory was pulled from the hub for use in prathrcby the customer. We received a report fromciiitomer on a daily basis indicating the
inventories pulled from a hub for use by the custorand performed a daily reconciliation of inverge shipped to and
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pulled by the customer to those inventories refléan the customer's reports to ensure that saesnecognized in the appropriate periods.

All amounts billed to customers relatedgiipping and handling are classified as net salbie all costs incurred by us for shipping and
handling are classified as cost of sales.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our financial instruments consist principalfycash and cash equivalents, investments in
marketable securities, accounts receivable, aceqayable, accrued expenses and debt instrumethes:. (han for certain investments in
auction rate securities (see Note 4 to the Cors@diFinancial Statements included in Part IV, Iféof this Report), the fair value of our ¢
equivalents and investments in marketable secsiigidetermined based on quoted prices in activ&eatsfor identical assets, or Level 1
Inputs. We believe that the carrying values ob#tller financial instruments approximate their cotfair values due to their nature and
respective durations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.We perform credit evaluations of our customi@ngincial condition and limit the amount of credit
extended to our customers as deemed necessapgierally require no collateral. We evaluate thkectbility of accounts receivable based
on a combination of factors. In cases where wexasare of circumstances that may impair a specifstamer's ability to meet its financial
obligations subsequent to the original sale, wénedord an allowance against amounts due, anéllgeeduce the net recognized receivab
the amount that we reasonably believe will be ctdld. For all other customers, we record allowarfeedoubtful accounts based primarily on
the length of time the receivables are past dectirent business environment and its historigpégence. Generally, our credit losses have
been within our expectations and the provisionalgisthed. However, we cannot guarantee that wecwaiitinue to experience credit loss rates
similar to those we have experienced in the past.

Our accounts receivable are highly conetatt among a small number of customers, and disigmi change in the liquidity or financial
position of one of these customers could have @mnadtadverse effect on the collectability of oacaunts receivable, our liquidity and our
future operating results.

Inventories. We value our inventories at the lower of thieuakcost to purchase or manufacture the inverdothe net realizable value
of the inventory. Cost is determined on an averaxgt basis which approximates actual cost on tifirdirst-out basis and includes raw
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. Ahdrtance sheet date, we evaluate ending inveqtagtities on hand and record a provi:
for excess quantities and obsolescence. Among &ahtars, we consider historical demand and fotecedemand in relation to the inventory
on hand, competitiveness of product offerings, raadonditions and product life cycles when detemgirobsolescence and net realizable
value. In addition, we consider changes in the etarklue of DRAM ICs and NAND in determining thet mealizable value of our raw mate!
inventory. Once established, any write downs aresictered permanent adjustments to the cost basigraxcess or obsolete inventories.

A significant decrease in demand for owrdpicts could result in an increase in the amouekoéss inventory quantities on hand. In
addition, our estimates of future product demang prave to be inaccurate, in which case we may hianerstated or overstated the provision
required for excess and obsolete inventory. Irfilhgre, if our inventories are determined to bergakied, we would be required to recognize
additional expense in our cost of sales at the tifreeich determination. Likewise, if our inventarigre determined to be undervalued, we may
have over-reported our costs of sales in previen®@s and would be required to recognize additignass profit at the time such inventories
are sold. In addition, should the market value BfAM ICs or NAND decrease significantly, we may leguired to lower our selling prices to
reflect the lower current cost of our raw materiffisuch price decreases reduce the net realizahle of our inventories to less than our
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cost, we would be required to recognize additi@xgense in our cost of sales in the same periddoAf§ih we make every reasonable effort to
ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of futureyrbdemand, any significant unanticipated changekemand, technological developments or
the market value of DRAM ICs or NAND could have atarial effect on the value of our inventories and reported operating results.

Impairment of Long-Lived AssetsWe evaluate the recoverability of the carryuadue of long-lived assets held and used in our
operations for impairment on at least an annuaklmswvhenever events or changes in circumstameksate that their net book value may not
be recoverable. When such factors and circumstagdsts we compare the projected undiscounted éutet cash flows associated with the
related asset or group of assets over their esttmageful lives against their respective carryimgant. These projected future cash flows may
vary significantly over time as a result of incredsompetition, changes in technology, fluctuatiosndemand, consolidation of our customers
and reductions in average selling prices. If theyirag value is determined not to be recoveraldenffuture operating cash flows, the asset is
deemed impaired and an impairment loss is recodriz¢he extent the carrying value exceeds thenastid fair value of the asset. The fair
value of the asset or asset group is based on inaake2 when available, or when unavailable, ocalimted expected cash flows.

Warranty Reserve. We offer product warranties generally rangiranf one to three years, depending on the produchagotiated tern
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctamtégs require us to repair or replace defectroglpct returned to us during the warranty
period at no cost to the customer. Warranties at®ffiered on sales of excess inventory. Our esémor warranty-related costs are recorded
at the time of sale based on historical and eséichatture product return rates and expected repagplacement costs. While such costs have
historically been within our expectations and thevjsions established, unexpected changes in é&ilates could have a material adverse
impact on us, requiring additional warranty resenand adversely affecting our gross profit anggmargins.

Stock-Based CompensationWe account for equity issuances to non-empleyeaccordance with ASC Topic 505. All transacsiam
which goods or services are the consideration veddior the issuance of equity instruments are aaisal for based on the fair value of the
consideration received or the fair value of theiggastrument issued, whichever is more reliablgasurable. The measurement date used to
determine the fair value of the equity instrumestid is the earlier of the date on which the thady performance is complete or the date on
which it is probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogiad director stock-based compensation expensenizeagduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the @eriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateménfseoations is based on awards ultimately expetegst, it has been reduced for estim
forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeituredtwestimated at the time of grant and revisededessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. Our estidaaverage forfeiture rates are based on histdddaiture experience and estimated future
forfeitures.

The fair value of common stock option aveat@ employees and directors is calculated usiadthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expttime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free interest rate apdaed dividends, all of which affect the estindafi@ir values of our common stock option
awards. The expected term of options granted utztked as the average of the weighted vestinggend the contractual expiration date of
the option. This calculation is based on the safbdr method permitted by the SEC in instances avtles vesting and exercise terms of opt
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granted meet certain conditions and where limiistbhical exercise data is available. Prior todis2009, the expected volatility was based on
the historical volatilities of the common stockaafmparable publicly traded companies based on eligflihat we had limited historical data
regarding the volatility of our stock price on whito base a meaningful estimate of expected vityatBeginning in fiscal 2009, the expected
volatility is based on the historical volatility olir common stock. The risk-free rate selectecataerany particular grant is based on the U.S.
Treasury rate that corresponds to the expecteddétire grant effective as of the date of the gr&he expected dividends assumption is based
on our history and our expectations regarding érdpayouts. We evaluate the assumptions usedue gar common stock option awards on
a quarterly basis. If factors change and we emgiffgrent assumptions, stock-based compensatioaresqpmay differ significantly from what
we have recorded in prior periods. Compensatioeesg for awards with graded vesting schedules@rézed on a straight-line basis over
the requisite service period for the last sepayatesting portion of the award.

If there are any modifications or cancélas of the underlying vested or unvested stoclet@svards, we may be required to accelerate,
increase or cancel any remaining unearned stockdba@mpensation expense, or record additional esepfem vested stock-based awards.
Future stock-based compensation expense and udestouk-based compensation may increase to thatakeg we grant additional common
stock options or other stock-based awards.

Income Taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogphio reflect the estimated future tax effectk;udated at currently effective
tax rates, of future deductible or taxable amoattishutable to events that have been recognizeml @mulative basis in the consolidated
financial statements. We regularly review our deféitax assets for recoverability and establishlaation allowance, when determined
necessary, based on historical taxable incomeegieg future taxable income, and the expected girofrthe reversals of existing temporary
differences. Because we operated at a loss forten@ed period of time, we were required to re@x@luation allowance against all of our
deferred tax assets in fiscal 2008, and have rmogrézed tax deferred tax assets related to ldssasred in fiscal 2009. In the future, if we
realize a deferred tax asset that currently caariealuation allowance, we may record an incomebemefit or a reduction to income tax
expense in the period of such realization.

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghodd and measurement requirement for the finasti@ément recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takerntanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andgitaan. Under ASC Topic 740 we may only recognizeantinue to recognize tax positions
that meet a "more likely than not" threshold.

The application of tax laws and regulaticnsubject to legal and factual interpretatiomgnent and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulat
themselves are subject to change as a result afelan fiscal policy, changes in legislation, #velution of regulations and court rulings.
Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreitaxes may be materially different from our estiesatwvhich could result in the need to record
additional tax liabilities or potentially reverseegiously recorded tax liabilities.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consatied statements of operations as a percentagé séles for the years indicated:

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Net sales 10C% 10C%
Cost of sale: 84 89
Gross profi 16 11
Operating expense
Research and developmt 44 10
Selling, general and administrati 44 19
Total operating expens 88 29
Operating los: (72 (18)
Other income (expense
Interest income, ne — —
Other income (expense), r — —
Total other income, n¢ — —
Loss before provision (benefit) for
income taxe! (72 (18)
Provision (benefit) for income tax 2 5
Net loss (70)% (23)%

Year Ended January 2, 2010 Compared to the Year Ended January 3, 2009
Net Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit.

The following table presents net salest obsales and gross profit for the fiscal yeardezghJanuary 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, %
2010 2009 Decrease Change
Net sales $ 18,47¢ $ 67,017 $ (48,53) (72)%
Cost of sale! 15,52 59,46( (43,939 (74)%
Gross profil $ 2951 $ 7551 $§ (4,599 (61)%
Gross margit 16.(% 11.5% 4.7%
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Net Sales. The overall decrease in our net sales was pitimgriven by a sharp reduction in demand from ourrent customer base, d
to the commaoditization and end of life cycle of goof our current product offerings. We continudrgmsition to a new business strategy
focused on the development of high-margin subsystemsed on custom logic devices.

The decrease in net sales for the fiscat gaded January 2, 2010, as compared to the fisealended January 3, 2009, resulted primarily
from decreases of approximately (i) $29.2 milliomeet sales of certain high density memory modidethe server market and related
applications as a result of our OEM customers'siteom from DDR2 FBDIMMS to next generation DDR3 RIMS, and (ii) $23.1 million in
net sales of SODIMM subsystems used in laptop patsmmputers as a result of component standaigizahd competition from DRAM
suppliers. These decreases were offset by an seEe52.3 million in net sales of RDIMMS used iAIR controller subsystems. Throughout
fiscal 2008 and the first half of fiscal 2009, weperienced relatively flat sales in RAID componsales as Dell transitioned to its next
generation of servers, however, this trend reveirséae latter half of fiscal 2009, in correlatiaith Dell's product launch.

Sales of our component inventory to distidios and other users of memory ICs representebrippately 4% and 1% of net sales for the
fiscal years ended January 3, 2010 and Janua@0B, 2espectively. As compared to the previous,y@amponent inventory sales increased as
we purchased inventory for a sale that we did uifilf

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. Gross profit for the fiscal year ended Jan2ar2010 as compared to the year ended Januan09, 20
decreased primarily due to the 72% decrease inates between the comparative periods. The 5%dserim gross margin for the fiscal year
ended January 2, 2010, as compared to the fisealeyeled January 3, 2009, was mainly due to thectiee in sales of commoditized laptop
memory products in fiscal 2009 compared with fi@08 and a weighting of our product mix towardn@igmargin products, such as those
used in RAID controller subsystems. Gross margipraiements were also a result of improved conditiorthe DRAM market. These gross
margin improvements were offset by an inabilityatisorb manufacturing costs caused by the signifidiap in units manufactured and sold
during fiscal 2009.

Research and Devel opment.

The following table presents research aktbpment expenses for the fiscal years endecadau2010 and January 3, 2009 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, %
2010 2009 Increase Change
Research and developm: $ 808 $ 6871 $ 1,217 18%

The increase in research and developmerarese for the fiscal year ended January 2, 201€mpared to the fiscal year ended
January 3, 2009, resulted primarily from increasfespproximately (i) $1.4 million in outside engareng costs for new products under
development and (ii) $1.0 million in legal and msdional fees as we continue to increase paterg &ihd protection activities related to new
and emerging markets. These increases were offsetlecrease of approximately $1.2 million in exggenrelated to in-house product
qualification builds and testing as we focusedeftorts on product development during the year.
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Selling, General and Administrative.

The following table presents selling, gahand administrative expenses for the fiscal yeaded January 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009 (ir
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, %
2010 2009 Decrease Change
Selling, general and administrati $ 830: $ 12,92¢ $ (4,626 (36)%

The decrease in selling, general and aditnative expense in the fiscal year ended Janua2910, as compared to the fiscal year ended
January 3, 2009, resulted primarily from decreadegpproximately (i) $2.8 million in personnel-redd expenses, including overhead
allocations, resulting from a 51% decrease in leeaoht, (i) $0.6 million in product qualificatiorkxpense and related travel costs while we
shifted our focus to the development of new prosltitht were not yet available for OEM customer ifjeation during fiscal 2009,

(iii) $0.4 million in legal and professional fe€s;) $0.3 million in commission expenses and (v)3billion in bad debt expense and equipr
writeoffs.

Other Income, Net.

The following table presents other incomepense) for the fiscal years ended January 2, @@dQ@anuary 3, 2009 (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, Increase %
2010 2009 (Decrease) Change
Interest income, ne $ 79 $ 47 $ (399 (83)%
Other income (expense), r 25 (137) 162 (1186)%
Total other income, n¢ $ 104 $ 33€ $ (232 (69)%

Net interest income for the fiscal year@tdanuary 2, 2010 was comprised of interest inamapproximately $0.2 million, partially
offset by interest expense of approximately $0.@8an. Net interest income for the fiscal year eddJanuary 3, 2009 was comprised of
interest income of approximately $0.7 million, ety offset by interest expense of approximately33million. The decrease in interest incc
in the fiscal year ended January 2, 2010, as caedparthe fiscal year ended January 3, 2009, wasala combination of our lower overall
cash and investment balances and the decrease yietd earned on those balances due to loweresiteates. The decrease in interest expense
during fiscal 2009, as compared to fiscal 2008ylted primarily from our lower average outstandi@dances on our line of credit and debt
balances during fiscal 2009.

Other expense, net, primarily includes gaind losses on foreign currency transactions ardispositions of property and equipment in
fiscal 2009 and 2008.

Provision (Benéefit) for Income Taxes.

The following table presents the provis{banefit) for income taxes for the fiscal yearseshdanuary 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3, %
2010 2009 Decrease Change
Provision (benefit) for income tax: $ (412) $ 3,301 $ (3,719 (112)%
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The federal statutory rate was 35% fordit009 and 2008. In fiscal 2008, our effectivei@be differed from the 35% statutory rate
primarily due to the establishment of a valuatidboveance against our net deferred tax assets,rétgefudiscussed in Note 8 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Part IV, Item 1%his Report. We continued to provide a full valoa allowance against our net deferred tax
assets generated in fiscal 2009, consisting priynafinet operating loss carryforwards.

Included in the unrecognized tax benefitdamuary 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009 was approeiyr0.1 million and $0.6 million,
respectively, of tax positions that, if recognizesuld affect our annual effective tax rate. Weusel our unrecognized tax benefits by
approximately $0.5 million during fiscal 2009 asegult of a lapse in a federal statute of limitatipresulting in an income tax benefit.

In fiscal 2008, we began operating undemi@idays in the PRC, which are effective fromulay 2008 through December 2012. Sinct
operated at a loss in the PRC in fiscal 2009 aii@2@e did not realize any benefit attributabl¢he tax holidays.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operasigmimarily through issuances of equity and debustes and cash generated from operations.
We have also funded our operations with a revolliimg of credit under our bank credit facility, é@tized lease obligations, financing of
receivables and from the sale and leaseback addamestic manufacturing facility.

Working Capital and Cash and Marketable Securities.

The following table presents working capitash and cash equivalents and investments iketedrle securities (in thousands):

January 2, January 3,

2010 2009
Working capital $ 13,37¢ $ 22,33¢
Cash and cash equivalents $ 994: $ 15,21«
Shor-term marketable securities( 3,94¢ 5,19¢
Long-term marketable securiti 941 96(

$ 14,83: $ 21,37

Q) Included in working capite

Our working capital decreased in the figedr ended January 2, 2010 primarily as a re$atdecrease in cash and short-term
investments in marketable securities of $6.5 millémd income tax receivable of $1.8 million usedupport operations.
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Cash Provided and Used in the Fiscal Years Ended January 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009.

The following table summarizes our caskwfdor the periods indicated:

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

Net cash provided by (used in)
Operating activitie! $ (6,629 $ (2,370
Investing activities 1,44(C 16,05
Financing activitie: (89) (5,649
Net increase (decrease) in cash and

equivalents $ (5.27) $ 8,032

Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities for ikedl year ended January 2, 2010 was primarilyekalt of a net loss
of approximately $12.9 million offset by (i) appimately $3.6 million in net non-cash operating exges, mainly comprised of depreciation
and amortization and stock-based compensationigrapbproximately $2.7 million in net cash provideg changes in operating assets and
liabilities, primarily income taxes receivable aactounts payable.

Despite relatively flat sales in the lasager of 2009 compared with 2008, accounts rebévimcreased approximately $2.4 million at
January 2, 2010 compared with January 3, 2009,gpilyras a result of the timing of sales within thet quarter of each fiscal year. During
fiscal 2009, we were successful in collecting dasi sales to our customers substantially in acamoecd with our standard payment terms to
those customers.

Inventories decreased approximately $0Mamiduring fiscal 2009 primarily as a result betoverall decline in our net sales during the
year. In the future, our inventory levels will conte to be determined based on, among other fadtmrdevel of customer orders received
overall demand as well as the stage at which aedymts are in their respective life cycles and cetitipe situations in the marketplace. We
make efforts to balance such considerations agtiiegisk of obsolescence or potentially excessribary levels.

Accounts payable increased approximatel§ $#llion during fiscal 2009 primarily as a resaftspending on legal and consulting serv
in support of our new product development and géirt cash management.

Net cash used in operating activities far fiscal year ended January 3, 2009 was primtr@yresult of a net loss of approximately
$15.2 million offset by (i) approximately $8.6 milh in net non-cash operating expenses, mainly ciseng of depreciation and amortization,
provision for bad debts, stock-based compensaitigpairment of long-lived assets and deferred inctewes and (ii) approximately
$4.2 million in net cash provided by changes inrapeg assets and liabilities.

Investing Activities. Net cash provided by investing activities foe fiscal year ended January 2, 2010 was primtgrédyresult of
proceeds from the maturities and sales of marketsdturities of approximately $15.2 million, pahjiaffset by purchases of investments in
marketable securities of approximately $13.9 millin fiscal 2009, we continued to invest remainieg proceeds from our initial public
offering, in various marketable securities invegttaén connection with our efforts to both preserapital as well as achieve competitive
returns on our investments.

Net cash provided by investing activities the fiscal year ended January 3, 2009 was pilyrtae result of proceeds from the maturities
and sales of marketable securities of approxim&28:6 million, partially offset by purchases oféstments in marketable securities of
approximately $6.4 million. Our investment strategivere consistent in fiscal 2008 and 2009. Wewdsd approximately $1.2 million
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in cash primarily to purchase equipment and leddeéhgprovements related to our new facilities ie #RC and in Irvine, California.

Financing Activities. In fiscal 2009, we utilized our line of cretlitfund short-term working capital needs througheitpiration on
August 31, 2009. Net cash used in financing adtiwifor the fiscal year ended January 2, 2010 hasdsult of $0.6 million in debt repayment,
offset by $0.5 million in proceeds from the exeeois options to purchase our common stock.

Net cash used in financing activities tog fiscal year ended January 3, 2009 was prim#rdyresult of net repayments on our outstanding
revolving line of credit of approximately $4.9 niilh, along with repayments on our long term detdmdroximately $0.8 million.

Capital Resources.

Our credit facility, which consisted ofevplving line of credit and a non-revolving equiprthéne of credit, expired on August 31, 2009
and all borrowings were repaid to the bank. Undergrevious revolving line of credit, we were atdeborrow up to the greater of 85% of
eligible accounts receivable plus the least o (@ercentage of eligible inventory determined ftome to time by its bank, (ii) 80% of the
orderly liquidation value, as defined, of eligildhwentories, and (iii) $1.0 million. Under the epmoient line, we were allowed to borrow up to
$3.9 million through January 3, 2009. Interestlmn ¢redit facility was payable monthly at the gesabf (i) the sum of the prime rate plus 3%,
(i) LIBOR plus 6% or (iii) 8%.

On October 31, 2009, we entered into alvéwvg credit agreement with another financial ington. Under the credit agreement, we may
borrow up to the lesser of (i) 80% of eligible agnts receivable, minus $1.0 million, or (ii) $5.0@lmn. The credit agreement contains an
overall sublimit of $2.5 million to collateralizeiocontingent obligations under letters of crefditeign exchange contracts and cash
management services. Amounts outstanding undexviiell sublimit reduce the amount available punsta the credit agreement. This
revolving credit agreement subjects us to certlimaative and negative covenants, including finahcovenants with respect to our liquidity
and profitability. Interest is payable monthly &her (i) prime plus 1.25%, as long as we maint&8% million in revolving credit availability
plus unrestricted cash on deposit with the findriogtitution, or (ii) prime plus 2.25%. The credigreement matures on October 30, 2010, at
which time all advances and interest are due agdipe.

The following table presents details ofstamding borrowings and availability under our $ire credit (in thousands, except percentages):

January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

Outstanding borrowings on the line

credit $ — % —
Outstanding borrowings on tl

equipment line of cred $ — $ 45(C
Borrowing availability under the line «

credit $ — $ 1,701
Prime rate 3.25% 3.25%

Obligations under our current revolvingditegreement are secured by a first priority benour tangible and intangible assets. In
connection with the revolving credit agreement,emtered into an Intercompany Subordination Agregnveimich provided that our subsidiary,
Netlist Technology Texas, LP, is an additional gbtion the revolving credit agreeme

While we expect to maintain compliance vifith covenants contained in our revolving credieagent for the foreseeable future, we t
in the past been in violation of one or more covenincluded in previously existing credit agreetsed/e cannot assure you that we will not
violate one or
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more covenants in the future. If we were to beiddation of covenants under our new revolving credireement, our lender could choose to
accelerate payment on all outstanding loan balaaed<ould refuse to fund advances under the limeedit. There can be no assurance that
we would be able to quickly obtain equivalent atahle replacement financing in this event. If were/not able to secure alternative sourct
funding, such acceleration or lack of availabilitpuld have a material adverse impact on our firelragndition.

We have in the past utilized equipmentiteaarrangements to finance certain capital exgarei. Equipment leases will continue to be a
financing alternative that we may pursue in theifeit

In order to become profitable or to achiame sustain positive cash flows from operationhénfuture, we must further reduce operating
expenses and/or increase our revenues. During #8668 and 2008, we completed a series of costctemuactions which we believe have
improved our operating cost structure. These expezductions alone may not make us profitable lomalis to sustain profitability if it is
achieved. Our ability to achieve the necessarymaggrowth will depend on, among other things,eased demand for our memory
subsystems and related product offerings, as waua ability to expand into new and emerging mirké/e may not be successful in
achieving the necessary revenue growth. Moreovemay be unable to sustain past or expected fetyrense reductions in subsequent
periods. We may not achieve profitability or sustaiich profitability, if achieved, on a quarterlyamnual basis in the future.

We believe our existing cash and investnbafdnces, borrowing availability under our bangdit facility, and the cash expected to be
generated from operations, will be sufficient toatneur anticipated cash needs for at least the I®ertonths. However, during challenging
economic times we may face issues gaining timetgseto sufficient credit, which could result irr nability to meet certain of our financial
obligations and other related commitments. Ourrkitiapital requirements will depend on many fagtoiuding our levels of net sales, the
timing and extent of expenditures to support resgeand development activities, the expansion ofufearturing capacity both domestically ¢
internationally and the continued market acceptari@ir products. We could be required, or may slegto seek additional funding through
public or private equity offerings or debt finang#n In addition, in connection with any future aisifions, we may require additional funding
which may be provided in the form of additional tiibancings or equity offerings or a combinatitieteof. These additional funds may not be
available on terms acceptable to us, or at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

We do not have any relationships with ursodidated entities or financial partnerships, sastentities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which wouldehlaeen established for the purpose of facilitatifighalance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. In adiitiwe do not have any undisclosed borrowings bt,dad we have not entered into any
synthetic leases. We are, therefore, not materadposed to any financing, liquidity, market orditeisk that could arise if we had engaged in
such relationships.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the FASB issued Accogritandards Update ("ASU") 2009-Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(itaSU
2009-13"), which amends the revenue guidance uh8€r Topic 605, which describes the accounting fattiple element arrangements. ASU
2009413 addresses how to determine whether an arrangémeiving multiple deliverables contains morerhane unit of accounting and h
arrangement consideration shall be measured amch##d to the separate units of accounting in ttemgement. ASU 20093 is effective on
prospective basis for
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our fiscal year 2011, with earlier adoption pergdttWe are currently evaluating the adoption of A809-13 and the impact that ASU 2009-
13 will have on our consolidated financial statetaen

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2DO%ertain Revenue Arrangements That Include SoftEmentg"ASU 2009-14"),
which excludes tangible products containing sofex@mponents and non-software components thatifumicigether to deliver the product's
essential functionality from the scope of ASC Tap8%, which describes the accounting for softwakenue recognition. ASU 2009-14 is
effective on a prospective basis for our fiscaln2@l1 with earlier adoption permitted. We are ently evaluating the impact that ASU 2009-
14 will have on our consolidated financial statetaen

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 20,1Baf Value Measurements and Disclosures:Improvingcldsures About Fair Value
Measuremer("ASU 2010-6"), which affects the disclosures mateut recurring and non-recurring fair value measients. ASU 2010-6 is
effective for our fiscal year beginning Januar2@10, and for annual and interim periods thereafés are currently evaluating the impact that
ASU 2010-6 will have on our consolidated finanatdtements.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
As a Smaller Reporting Company, we arereqtiired to make any disclosure pursuant to teis ITA.
Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a
The financial statements and supplemerdatg required by this item are included in Partltém 15 of this Report.
Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accotents on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of DisclosairControls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the parttipgn of our management, including our principa@xtive officer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disctestontrols and procedures, as such term is definBdile 13at5(e) under the Exchange #
as of the end of the period covered by this ref@ased on this evaluation, our principal executffecer and our principal financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwere effective to provide reasonable assurdmatertformation required to be disclosed
by us in reports we file or submit under the Exa®eAct is recorded, processed, summarized andtegpasithin the time periods specified in
the SEC's rules and forms, and is accumulated aminzinicated to our management, including our ppaloéxecutive officer and principal
financial officer, as appropriate to allow timelgaisions regarding required disclosures.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control divemncial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supeovisind with the participation of our managemerdiuding our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted amleration of the effectiveness of our internal coh@iver financial reporting as of January 2,
2010 based on the criteria set forthriternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission. Based on this
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evaluation, our management concluded that ourriaterontrol over financial reporting was effecta® of January 2, 2010.

This Annual Report does not include ansadtiion report of our independent registered puddimounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. Management's report watssubject to attestation by our independent reggst public accounting firm pursuant to
temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange Gsgiom that permit us to provide only managemeapsrt in this Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal @biver financial reporting during the fourth quarof fiscal 2009 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, anternal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

A control system, no matter how well coweei and operated, can provide only reasonableabsilute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the benefitontrols must be considered relative to theitsdBecause of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can pi®absolute assurance that all control issuesratances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include tladitres that judgments in decision making can hatyaand that breakdowns can occur bec
of simple errors. Additionally, controls can beccimvented by the individual acts of some persopsdiusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the control. The desigmgfsystem of controls is also based in part upetateassumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurancerthatesign will succeed in achieving its stated gaalder all potential future conditions.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-éffeccontrol system, misstatements due to errdraad may occur and not be detected.

In addition, projections of any evaluatmfreffectiveness to future periods are subjectsksrthat controls may become inadequate be
of changes in conditions, or the degree of compéanith the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

PART IlI

Certain information required by this Pdkrid omitted from this Annual Report as we expiectile our definitive Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Regafafi4A of the Exchange Act not later than 120 deffer the end of the fiscal year covered
by this Annual Report, and certain information urd#d in the Proxy Statement is incorporated hdygireference.

Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance

We incorporate by reference herein theigestentitled "Election Of Directors," "Board Ofiectors; Audit Committee Financial Expert"
And "Other Information—Section 16(a) Beneficial Osvship Reporting Compliance" in our Proxy Statement

We have adopted a "Code of Business CorahatEthics" that applies to all employees, inalgdbur executive officers. A copy of the
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted omternet site atvww.netlist.com In the event that we make any amendment to,antgr
any waivers of, a provision of the Code of Busin@ssduct and Ethics that applies to the principakceative officer,
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principal financial officer, or principal accoungrofficer that requires disclosure under applicables promulgated under the Securities Act or
Exchange Act, we intend to disclose such amendorentiver and the reasons therefor on our Intesitet

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item isdmporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiExecutive Compensation" and "Directors'
Compensation” in our Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficibOwners and Management and Related Stockholder Métrs

The information required by this Item isamporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiSecurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensatiom Rfarmation” in our Proxy Statement.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item isdmporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiCertain Relationships and Related
Transactions" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is@mporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiAuditors, Audit Fees and Auditor
Independence” in our Proxy Statement.
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Item 15.

PART IV
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a)(1) All financial statements filed @art of this report.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimgm F-2
Consolidated Balance She: F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operati F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and

Comprehensive Los F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc F-6

(@)(2)
3.1(1)
3.2(1)

10.1(2)

10.2(2)

10.5(2)

10.4(2)

10.5(2)

10.€(2)

10.7(4)

10.£(5)

10.4(6)

10.1((9)

10.13(10)

Exhibits

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Netlistc.|
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Netlist, |

Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agreerdated as of December 27, 2003, among Netlist, Netlist Technolog;
Texas, L.P. ("Netlist Texas"), and Wells Fargo Bess Credit, Inc. ("Wells Fargo'

First Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSmauirity Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2004, giietlist, Inc., Netlis
Texas and Wells Farg

Second Amendment to Credit and Security AgreemediVdaiver of Defaults, dated as of December 2052@thong Netlist, Inc
Netlist Texas and Wells Farg

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSewlrity Agreement, dated as of February 14, 2a6®ng Netlist, Inc.
Netlist Texas and Wells Farg

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated CagditSecurity Agreement and Waiver of Defaultsedats of April 18, 2006,
among Netlist, Inc., Netlist Texas and Wells Fal

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated Ciaattit Security Agreement, dated as of July 28, 286%ing Netlist, Inc., Netlist
Texas and Wells Farg

Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSswlirity Agreement, dated as of December 29, Z

Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated CreatdliBaourity Agreement, dated effective as of Marth2007, by an
among Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Neflischnology Texas, L.P., a Texas limited partngrsind Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association

Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated CeeditSecurity Agreement, dated effective as of 2007, by and among
Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Netlist Teclogy Texas, L.P., a Texas limited partnershigl, Afells Fargo Bank, Nation
Association

Ninth Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSealrity Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2008, byandng Netlist, Inc.
a Delaware corporation, Netlist Technology TexaP, La Texas limited partnership, and Wells FargokB National Associatiot

Tenth Amendment to Amended and Restated CrediSaadrity Agreement, dated October 30, 2008, byasnodng Netlist, Inc.,
Delaware corporation, Netlist Technology Texas, LaPTexas limited partnership, and Wells FargolB&ational Associatior

10.1%(1)# Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plavedlist, Inc.
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10.133) Master Sales and Supply Agreement, dated as oadady 2004, between Netlist, Inc. and Netlist Te
10.142) Management Fee Agreement, dated as of January4, Bétween Netlist, Inc. and Netlist Tex
10.152) Form of Indemnity Agreement for officers and dist

10.1€(3)# Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 2006 deztWetlist, Inc. and Chun K. Hor

10.1%(3)# Form of Performance Incentive Agreement extér® by Netlist, Inc. with each of Christopherdes, Jayesh Bhakta and Paik Ki
Hong in August 200¢€

10.1¢(3)# Form of Amendment to Performance Incentivee®gnent entered into by Netlist, Inc. with each bfi€opher Lopes, Jayesh
Bhakta and Paik Ki Hong in September 2C

10.1¢21)# 2006 Equity Incentive Plan of Netlist, Ir

10.2((5) Lease (Multi-Tenant; Net), dated April 2, 20@y,and between The Irvine Company LLC, a Delavianged liability company,
and Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporati

10.2)(11) Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of @ut8th, 2009, between Silicon Valley Bank, a Califarcorporation, and
Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation; Subordinathgreement, dated as of October 31, 2009, bet@dmon Valley Bank, ¢
California corporation, Netlist, Inc., a Delawa@moration, and Netlist Technology Texas, L.P.eads limited partnership;
Security Agreement entered into as of October 8092etween, Silicon Valley Bank and Netlist Tedbgy Texas LP, a Texas
limited partnership; and Intellectual Property Sé@guAgreement entered into as of October 31, 200@nd between Silicon
Valley Bank and NETLIST, INC., a Delaware corpavati

10.2%(12)#Stock Option Agreement dated December 16, 2008gtions to purchase 50,000 shares of the Regigramnhmon stoc
awarded to John Smolk

10.2%(13)#Stock Option Agreement dated January 4, 2010 féowep to purchase 100,000 shares of the Regigtremthmon stock awarded
to Steve McClure

10.2414)#Stock Option Agreement dated July 1, 2009 for opstito purchase 50,000 shares of the Registramimonm stock awarded to
Paul Duran

21.)(15) Subsidiaries of Netlist, In
23(15) Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LL|
24.1(15) Power of Attorney (included on the signature pagthis Part IV of this report
31.1(15) Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Peri@dReport Pursuant to Rule -15(e) or Rule 15-15(e).
31.2(15) Certification of Chief Financial Officer of PeriadReport Pursuant to Rule -15(e) or Rule 15-15(e).

32(15) Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chiehancial Officer of Periodic Report Pursuant toll&.C. Section 135(

(1) Incorporated by reference to the correspondingbétxhumber of the registration statement on Forth@-the registrant (No. 333-
136735) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdassion on October 23, 200

48




Table of Contents

@

©)

(4)

®)

(6)

)

®)

©)

(10)

11)

12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

Incorporated by reference to the correspondinglexhumber of the registration statement on Forth@&-the registrant (No. 333-
136735) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cisaion on August 18, 2006.
Incorporated by reference to the correspondingtetxhumber of the registration statement on Forth@&-the registrant (No. 333-
136735) filed with the Securities and Exchange Cdsaion on September 27, 2006.
Incorporated by reference to the correspondingtexhiumber of the annual report on Form 10-K of tbgistrant filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Februarg Q.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 18d ¥0.2 of the current report on Form 8-K of thgisgant filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on April 6, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registrided with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 14, 2007.
Incorporated by reference to the correspondingtexhiumber of the current report on Form 8-K of thgistrant filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Septemb&00g,
Incorporated by reference to exhibit number 4.ghefregistration statement on Form S-8 of the teggis (No. 333-146192) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on SepteAih&007.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registfdled with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on May 8, 2008.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10th@ quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registrided with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on November 7, 2008.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10012, 10.3 and 10.4 of the current report on Forkhd@ the registrant filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Novembed(.2
Incorporated by reference to exhibit number 4.ghefregistration statement on Form S-8 of the teggis (No. 333-163991) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Deceg#het009.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit number 4.ghefregistration statement on Form S-8 of the tegis (No. 333-164261) filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on Jany&g1®.
Incorporated by reference to exhibit 4.3 of thastgtion statement on Form S-8 of the registra@B8¢161834) filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on September 10, 2009.
Filed herewith.
Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

(b) Exhibits

See subsection (a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized, in the City of Irvine, State ofl@ania, on this 19" day of February, 2010.

NETLIST, INC.

By: /s/ CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Boar:

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears belostitutes and appoints Chun K. Hong and Galil Ijomtly and severally, each in his or her
own capacity, his/her true and lawful attorneydsot, with full power of substitution, for him/hand his/her name, place and stead, in any anc
all capacities, to sign any and all amendmentdydicg post-effective amendments) to this report to file the same, with all exhibits thereto
and other documents in connection therewith, with$ecurities and Exchange Commission, granting sunth said attorneys-in-fact and
agents with full power and authority to do so aedfi@rm each and every act and thing requisite aogssary to be done in and about the
premises, as fully to all intents and purposeseasiight or could do in person, hereby ratifying andfirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or
their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully dacause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of SectionrlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 thport has been signed below by the
following persons in the capacities and on theglatdicated:

Signature

/sl CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong

/sl GAIL ITOW

Gail Itow

/s/ RICHARD J. CHAR

Richard J. Cha

/s/ NAM KI HONG

Nam Ki Hong

/sl THOMAS F. LAGATTA

Thomas F. Lagatt

/s ALAN H. PORTNOY

Alan H. Portnoy

Title

President, Chief Executive Officer a
Chairman of the Board (Principal
Executive Officer,

Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer at
Principal Accounting Officer

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Date

February 19, 201

February 19, 2010

February 19, 2010

February 19, 2010

February 19, 2010

February 19, 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Netlist, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying cons@ibatlance sheets of Netlist, Inc. and subsididties"Company") as of January 2, 2010 and
January 3, 2009, and the related consolidatednséatis of operations, stockholders' equity and cehrgmsive loss and cash flows for the years
then ended. These consolidated financial statenaeatthe responsibility of the Company's managent@umt responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statemeasged on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetsitmobtain reasonable assurance about whetheptisolidated financial statements are free
of material misstatement. The Company is not reglio have, nor were we engaged to perform, art andis internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration oéintl control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for thigpse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveinéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsopinion. An audit includes examining, on a tesib, evidence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesiefah audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbeeresolidated financial statement presentatioe. Welieve that our audits provide for a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the consolidated financial
position of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiaries as afulry 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009, and the cordetidesults of their operations and their ¢
flows for the years then ended, in conformity wattcounting principles generally accepted in thetéthStates of America.

/s KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
February 19, 2010
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value)

January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivale $ 9947 $ 15,21
Investments in marketable securit 3,94¢ 5,19¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doub#ttounts of $37 (200
and $88 (2008 4,27: 1,917
Inventories 2,23: 1,82¢
Income taxes receivab — 1,88(
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 854 761
Total current asse 21,25( 26,80(
Property and equipment, r 4,77¢ 6,93¢
Long-term investments in marketable securi 941 96(
Other asset 221 234
Total asset $ 27,197 $ 34,930
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 4,057 $ 1,78¢
Accrued payroll and related liabiliti¢ 1,70¢ 79¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 1,231 1,28¢
Accrued engineering charg 661 —
Current portion of lon-term deb! 10¢ 474
Current portion of deferred gain on sale and leasefransactiol 10¢€ 11€
Total current liabilities 7,871 4,461
Long-term debt, net of current portic 51 13C
Deferred gain on sale and leaseback transactiomof meirrent portior — 10¢
Total liabilities 7,922 4,69¢
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value—10,000 sharéeered; no shares
issued and outstandit — —
Common stock, $0.001 par va—90,000 shares authorized; 20,1
(2009) and 19,855 (2008) shares issued and outstp 20 20
Additional paic-in capital 71,33: 69,38:
Accumulated defici (52,026  (39,11))
Accumulated other comprehensive i (57 (56)
Total stockholders' equit 19,26¢ 30,23
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $ 27,197 $ 34,93!

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisents.

F-3




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Net sales $ 1847¢ $ 67,01
Cost of sales(1 15,52: 59,46(
Gross profi 2,957 7,551
Operating expense
Research and development 8,08: 6,871
Selling, general and administrative 8,30z 12,92¢
Total operating expens 16,38¢ 19,80(
Operating los: (13,429 (12,249
Other income (expense
Interest income, ne 79 473
Other income (expense), r 25 (137)
Total other income, n¢ 104 33€
Loss before provision (benefit) for income ta (13,329 (12,919
Provision (benefit) for income tax (412) 3,301
Net loss $ (12,919 $ (15,219
Net loss per common sha
Basic $ (065 $ (0.79)
Diluted $ (065 % (0.79)
Weighte-average common shares outstand
Basic 19,87¢ 19,84%
Diluted 19,87¢ 19,84%
(1)  Amounts include sto-based compensation expense as follc
Cost of sale: $ 224 % 144
Research and developm 301 17¢
Selling, general and administrati 96C 954

See accompanying notes to consolidated financissents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity an€omprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Series A
Preferred
Stock Common Stock

Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders'
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity

Balance,
December 29
2007 —$ — 19,75¢$ 20 $ 68,10¢ $ (23,899 % (B7NS$ 44,19
Stock-based
compensatic — — — — 1,277 — — 1,277
Exercise of
warrants — — 97 — — — — —
Tax effect from
warrant
exercise — — — — 3 — — (©)]
Components ¢
comprehens
loss:
Change in ne!
unrealized
loss on
investment: — — — — — — (19) (19
Net loss — — — — — (15,219 — (15,214
Comprehensiv:
loss — — — — — — — (15,23

Balance,
January 3,
2009 — — 19,85¢ 20 69,38 (39,119 (56) 30,23¢
Stock-based
compensatic — — — — 1,48¢ — — 1,48¢
Exercise of
stock option: — — 25€ — 464 — — 464
Components @
comprehens
loss:
Change in ne!
unrealized
loss on
investment: — — — — — — (D) (D)
Net loss — — — — — (12,919 — (12,919
Comprehensiv:
loss — — — — — — — (12,919

Balance,

January 2,
2010 —$ — 20,11:% 20%$ 71,33: % (52,020 % 57% 19,26¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss $  (12,91) $ (15219
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 2,267 2,39¢
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaselbaisactior (11¢) (11¢)
Deferred income taxe — 4,52¢
Provision for bad deb: — 25¢
Impairment of lon-lived asset: — 21z
(Gain) loss on disposal of ass (11) 8C
Stocl-based compensatit 1,48% 1,277
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (2,35€) 9,85¢
Inventories (403) 1,50¢
Income taxes receivab 1,88( (1,172
Prepaid expenses and other current a: (93) (369)
Other asset 13 85
Accounts payabl 2,111 (4,917)
Accrued payroll and related liabilitit 907 (630)
Accrued expenses and other current liabili (53) (159)
Accrued engineering charg 661 —
Net cash used in operating activit (6,627) (2,370
Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipme @av? (1,15¢)
Proceeds from sales of equipm 34t —
Purchase of investments in marketable secul (23,909 (6,404
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investmemsairketable securitie 15,17¢ 23,61:
Net cash provided by investing activiti 1,44(C 16,05:
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings on lines of cred 12,78¢ 91,30¢
Payments on lines of cre( (12,789 (96,177)
Payments on del (559 (774)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and was 464 —
Excess tax benefit (provision) from exercise otktoptions — 3)
Net cash used in financing activiti (89) (5,649
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (5,272 8,03:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 15,21« 7,18:
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 9,94: $ 15,21«
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest $ 73 % 361
Cash received during the year f
Income taxe: $ 2,37C $ 56
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing and financing activitie
Purchase of equipment through capitalized leasgatiins $ 10¢ $ —
Purchase of equipment not paid for at the endef/gar $ 16C $ —
Reclassification of other assets to property andpenent $ —  $ 281
Unrealized losses from investments in marketahterses $ 1 3 19

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

January 2, 2010
Note 1—Description of Business

Netlist, Inc. (the "Company" or "Netlistlesigns and manufactures high performance memdsystems for the server, high performa
computing and communications markets. The Compangfaory subsystems consist of custom, Netlist ageal integrated circuit solutions,
dynamic random access memory integrated circuk\D flash memory("NAND"), and other components asbkd on a printed circuit
board. Headquartered in Irvine, California, Ne#isblutions are targeted at applications where ongiplays a key role in meeting system
performance requirements. In 2007, the Companyksit@d a manufacturing facility in the People'p&gic of China (the "PRC"), which
became operational in July 2007 upon the succegshlification of certain key customers.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financiaiestents have been prepared in accordance with atiegprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America ("U.S.").

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Netlist, Inc. and its wholly edrsubsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in cons@iaat

Fiscal Year

The Company operates undéf bs3-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closeBretoember 31. The 2009 and 2008 fiscal years
ended on January 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009 ctespe. Fiscal year 2009 consisted of 52 weeksfauhl year 2008 consisted of 53 weeks.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the 2008 consolidatedrfcial statements have been reclassified to confdth the current year presentation.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally epted in the U.S. requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of the assets and liabilities andalisce of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts of revenues and expenses during tbetirepperiod. Significant estimates made
by management include, among others, provisionariopllectible receivables and sales returns, wéyrabilities, valuation of inventories,
fair values of investments in marketable securitiesoverability of long-lived assets, stock-basemhpensation expense and realization of
deferred tax assets. The Company bases its estimateassumptions on current facts, historical spee and various other factors that it
believes to be reasonable under the circumstatiwesesults of which form the basis for making jodgnts about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities and the accrual of costs and expsgitisat are not readily apparent from other soufdes actual results experienced by the
Company may differ materially and adversely fromdstimates. To the
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 2, 2010
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
extent there are material differences betweendtimates and the actual results, future resultpefations will be affected.
Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues primarily consigirofluct sales of high performance memory subsysteroriginal equipment manufacturers
("OEMSs"). Revenues also include sales of excesantories to distributors and other users of menmaggrated circuits ("ICs"), totaling
approximately $0.7 million and $0.4 million duritite years ended January 2, 2010 and January 3, 8@ ctively.

The Company recognizes revenues in accoedaith the Financial Accounting Standards BoaFASB") Accounting Standards
Codification ("ASC") Topic 605. Accordingly, the @pany recognizes revenues when there is persuasidence of an arrangement, product
delivery and acceptance have occurred, the sailesiprfixed or determinable, and collectabilitytbé resulting receivable is reasonably
assured.

The Company generally uses customer puecbiaters and/or contracts as evidence of an amaefe Delivery occurs when goods are
shipped for customers with FOB Shipping Point teemd upon receipt for customers with FOB Destimateyms, at which time title and risk
of loss transfer to the customer. Shipping docusarg used to verify delivery and customer accegtafihe Company assesses whether the
sales price is fixed or determinable based on #lyenent terms associated with the transaction aretheh the sales price is subject to refund.
Customers are generally allowed limited rightsegtirn for up to 30 days, except for sales of exoegntories, which contain no right-of-
return privileges. Estimated returns are providedat the time of sale based on historical expegesr specific identification of an event
necessitating a reserve. The Company offers aatdrmtoduct warranty to its customers and has hergiost-shipment obligations. The
Company assesses collectibility based on the evediiness of the customer as determined by cobditks and evaluations, as well as the
customer's payment history.

Historically, a portion of the Company'spghents were made to third party inventory warelesusr hubs, and the Company recognized
revenue when the inventory was pulled from the fonluse in production by the customer. The Compaagived a report from the customer
on a daily basis indicating the inventories puliesn a hub for use by the customer, and performeédilg reconciliation of inventories shipped
to and pulled by the customer to those inventagélected on the customer's reports to ensurestiles were recognized in the appropriate
periods.

All amounts billed to customers relatediipping and handling are classified as revenubageall costs incurred by the Company for
shipping and handling are classified as cost afssal

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cadislaort-term investments with original maturitiéthree months or less.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 2, 2010
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company accounts for its investmentaamketable securities in accordance with ASC T8gie. The Company determines the
appropriate classification of its investments attilme of purchase and reevaluates such desigrattieach balance sheet date. The Company's
investments in marketable securities have beesifils and accounted for as available-for-sale dagemanagement's investment intentions
relating to these securities. Available-for-saleusities are stated at market value, and are giybeased on market quotes, to the extent they
are available. Unrealized gains and losses, napplicable deferred taxes, are recorded as a coempoii other comprehensive income (loss).
Realized gains and losses and declines in valugeplitb be other than temporary are determined b@aséle specific identification method &
are reported in other income (expense), net ictimsolidated statements of operations.

The Company generally invests its excesh @adomestic banissued certificates of deposit which carry fedeegosit insurance, mon
market funds and in highly liquid debt instrumeofd).S. municipalities, corporations and the U.@vgrnment and its agencies. All highly
liquid investments with stated maturities of threenths or less from the date of purchase are @kldsis cash equivalents; all investments
stated maturities of greater than three monthslassified as investments in marketable securities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company's financial instruments coristcipally of cash and cash equivalents, investi:ien marketable securities, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expensededmhdnstruments. Other than for certain investsi@ntuction rate securities (see Note 4),
the fair value of the Company's cash equivalendsimvestments in marketable securities is deterchbesed on quoted prices in active mar
for identical assets, or Level 1 inputs. The Conypaglieves that the carrying values of all otheaficial instruments approximate their current
fair values due to their nature and respectivetdursa.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectibilityao€ounts receivable based on a combination abifecin cases where the Company is awa
circumstances that may impair a specific custonadility to meet its financial obligations subsenum the original sale, the Company will
record an allowance against amounts due, and theeelbice the net recognized receivable to the afrtberCompany reasonably believes will
be collected. For all other customers, the Compangrds allowances for doubtful accounts basedaoiiynon the length of time the
receivables are past due based on the terms ofitfieating transaction, the current business emvirent and its historical experience.
Uncollectible accounts are charged against thevalhce for doubtful accounts when all cost effectieenmercial means of collection have
been exhausted.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 2, 2010
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to significant concentrations eflitrrisk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments in marketable securitied,accounts receivable.

The Company invests its cash equivalernisarily in money market funds. Cash equivalentsraaéntained with high quality institutions,
the composition and maturities of which are redylaronitored by management. The Company had $0ll®mbf FDIC insured cash and cz
equivalents at January 2, 2010. Investments in etabke securities are generally in high-credit iipalebt instruments with an active resale
market. Such investments are made only in instrasneaued or enhanced by high-quality institutidffee Company has not incurred any
credit risk losses related to these investments.

The Company's trade accounts receivablerarerily derived from sales to OEMs in the congruhdustry. The Company performs
credit evaluations of its customers' financial dtod and limits the amount of credit extended wieemed necessary, but generally requir
collateral. The Company believes that the concéatraf credit risk in its trade receivables is racated by its credit evaluation process,
relatively short collection terms and the high lesecredit worthiness of its customers. Resenresnaaintained for potential credit losses, and
such losses historically have not been signifieemat have been within management's expectations.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of attwst to purchase or manufacture the inventoth®mnet realizable value of the inventory. Cost
is determined on an average cost basis which appabes actual cost on a first-in, first-out basisgl éncludes raw materials, labor and
manufacturing overhead. At each balance sheet &€ ompany evaluates its ending inventory quastdn hand and on order and records a
provision for excess quantities and obsolesceno®m other factors, the Company considers histodieanand and forecasted demand in
relation to the inventory on hand, competitivenafsgroduct offerings, market conditions and prodifetcycles when determining
obsolescence and net realizable value. In addititnCompany considers changes in the market wdloemponents in determining the net
realizable value of raw material inventory. Proems are made to reduce excess or obsolete invesitoriheir estimated net realizable values.
Once established, write-downs are considered peniaujustments to the cost basis of the excesbamiete inventories.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded atarubtdepreciated on a straight-line basis over gstimated useful lives, which generally range
from three to seven years. Leasehold improvemeatsegorded at cost and amortized on a straightHasis over the shorter of their estimated
useful lives or the remaining lease term.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 2, 2010
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverabilitthefcarrying value of long-lived assets held aselduby the Company for impairment on at
least an annual basis or whenever events or chamgaésumstances indicate that their net book @ahay not be recoverable. When such
factors and circumstances exist, the Company coesphe projected undiscounted future net cash famsgsciated with the related asset or
group of assets over their estimated useful liggsrest their respective carrying amount. If theryiag value is determined not to be
recoverable from future operating cash flows, th&ehis deemed impaired and an impairment logsc@gnized to the extent the carrying value
exceeds the estimated fair value of the assetfdihealue of the asset or asset group is basedarket value when available, or when
unavailable, on discounted expected cash flows.Adrapany’'s management believes there is no impatrafdong-lived assets as of
January 2, 2010. There can be no assurance, hawkeaemarket conditions will not change or dem#ordhe Company's products will
continue, which could result in future impairmehtang-lived assets.

Warranty Reserve

The Company offers product warranties galheranging from one to three years, dependingherproduct and negotiated terms of the
purchase agreements with customers. Such warraatjege the Company to repair or replace defegireeluct returned to the Company
during such warranty period at no cost to the gusto Warranties are not offered on sales of exiceentory. The Company records an
estimate for warranty-related costs at the timsabé based on its historical and estimated progtigtn rates and expected repair or
replacement costs (see Note 3). Such costs hawitédly been within management's expectationsthegrovisions established.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity issuance®mh-employees in accordance with ASC Topic 50btransactions in which goods or
services are the consideration received for theaisse of equity instruments are accounted for bandtie fair value of the consideration
received or the fair value of the equity instrumisstied, whichever is more reliably measurable. Mbasurement date used to determine the
fair value of the equity instrument issued is thdier of the date on which the third-party perfamoe is complete or the date on which it is
probable that performance will occur.

In accordance with ASC Topic 718, emplogied director stock-based compensation expensenmazeatduring the period is based on the
value of the portion of stock-based payment awtrdsis ultimately expected to vest during the getriGiven that stock-based compensation
expense recognized in the consolidated stateménfzesations is based on awards ultimately expette@st, it has been reduced for estim
forfeitures. ASC Topic 718 requires forfeituredbmestimated at the time of grant and revisededessary, in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. The Comypmestimated average forfeiture rates are baséustorical forfeiture experience and
estimated future forfeitures.

The fair value of common stock option aveatim employees and directors is calculated usied@tack-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expttime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the risk-free
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 2, 2010
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

interest rate and expected dividends, which affexziestimated fair values of the Company's comnmrkoption awards. The expected terr
options granted is calculated as the average oféighted vesting period and the contractual etipimadate of the option. This calculation is
based on the safe harbor method permitted by tberfies and Exchange Commission ("SEC") in insésn@here the vesting and exercise
terms of options granted meet certain conditiortsw@here limited historical exercise data is avddaPrior to fiscal 2009, the expected
volatility was based on the historical volatilitiesthe common stock of comparable publicly tradethpanies based on management's belief
that the Company had limited historical data regaydhe volatility of its stock price on which tafe a meaningful estimate of expected
volatility. Beginning in fiscal 2009, the expectealatility is based on the historical volatility tfe Company's common stock. The rigde ratt
selected to value any particular grant is basetherJ.S. Treasury rate that corresponds to theategeerm of the grant effective as of the date
of the grant. The expected dividends assumptitvased on the Company's history and managemengstation regarding dividend payouts.
Compensation expense for awards with graded vestihgdules is recognized on a straight-line bags the requisite service period for the
last separately vesting portion of the award.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities ar@gezed to reflect the estimated future tax effectdculated at currently effective tax rates, of
future deductible or taxable amounts attributablevents that have been recognized on a cumubadisis in the consolidated financial
statements. A valuation allowance related to ale&rred tax asset is recorded when it is mordylittean not that some portion of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized.

ASC Topic 740 prescribes a recognitionghméd and measurement requirement for the finastéément recognition of a tax position
that has been taken or is expected to be takerntanraturn and also provides guidance on de-ratiognclassification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure, andgiton. Under ASC Topic 740 the Company may onlyognize or continue to recognize tax
positions that meet a "more likely than not" thiddh

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expendituresxaensed in the period incurred.
Collaborative Arrangement

The Company has entered into a collabaragivangement with a partner in order to developpets using certain of the Company's
proprietary technology. Under the arrangementgdenelopment partner was granted a non-exclusieasie to specified intellectual property.
Both the Company and the development partner peavathd continue to provide engineering project rgameent resources at their own
expense. The development partner is entitled teraouarring engineering fees based upon the achiemeof development milestones, and to a
minimum portion of the Company's purchasing allmeet for the component. Expenses incurred andtpditde development partner are
included in research and development expense iadb@empanying consolidated statements of operations
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Comprehensive Loss

ASC Topic 220 establishes standards foontey and displaying comprehensive income (lossl) iss components in the consolidated
financial statements. Accumulated other comprelvenisiss includes unrealized gains or losses orsinvents.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company's operations in the PRC argesuto various political, geographical and ecoronisks and uncertainties inherent to
conducting business in China. These include, lihat limited to, (i) potential changes in econogoaditions in the region, (ii) managing a
local workforce that may subject the Company toeutainties or certain regulatory policies, (iiijastges in other policies of the Chinese
governmental and regulatory agencies, and (iv) gbain the laws and policies of the United Stateseghment regarding the conduct of
business in foreign countries, generally, or inn@hin particular. Additionally, the Chinese govaent controls the procedures by which its
local currency, the Chinese Renminbi ("RMB"), isigerted into other currencies and by which dividendhy be declared or capital distribu
for the purpose of repatriation of earnings anegtments. If restrictions in the conversion of RbiBn the repatriation of earnings and
investments through dividend and capital distritmitiestrictions are instituted, the Company's dp®ra and operating results may be
negatively impacted. Restricted net assets of vhisidiary in the PRC totaled $2.7 million at Jayuzr2010.

Foreign Currency Remeasurement

The functional currency of the Companyteign subsidiary is the U.S. dollar. Local currefiogncial statements are remeasured into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect ab®btalance sheet date for monetary assets anlitigshand the historical exchange rate for
nonmonetary assets and liabilities. Expenses aneasured using the average exchange rate for thoglpexcept items related to nonmonetary
assets and liabilities, which are remeasured usistgrical exchange rates. All remeasurement gagslosses are included in determining net
loss.

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is calculatedibigidg net loss by the weighted-average commomeshautstanding during the year. Diluted net
loss per share is calculated by dividing the ne$ loy the weighted-average shares and dilutivenpateommon shares outstanding during the
year. Dilutive potential shares consist of dilutsleares issuable upon the exercise of outstantlicy sptions and warrants computed using
treasury stock method. In periods of losses, basicdiluted loss per share are the same, as thet eff stock options and warrants on loss per
share is anti-dilutive.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the FASB issued Accagniitandards Update ("ASU") 2009-M.ltiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme(@itaSU
2009-13"), which amends the revenue guidance ulh8€r Topic 605, which describes the accounting fattiple element arrangements. ASU
2009-13 addresses how to determine whether angamaant involving multiple deliverables contains mtiran one unit

F-13




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 2, 2010
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

of accounting and how arrangement consideratioh seaneasured and allocated to the separate ainéiscounting in the arrangement. ASU
2009-13 is effective on a prospective basis forGbenpany's fiscal year 2011, with earlier adoppenmitted. The Company is currently
evaluating the adoption of ASU 2009-13 and the ichplzat ASU 2009-13 will have on its consolidatathfcial statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2ZDOTertain Revenue Arrangements That Include Softe&smentg"ASU 2009-14"),
which excludes tangible products containing sofaxamponents and non-software components thatifumicigether to deliver the product's
essential functionality from the scope of ASC Top85, which describes the accounting for softwaxenue recognition. ASU 2009-14 is
effective on a prospective basis for the Compdiistal year 2011, with earlier adoption permittétde Company is currently evaluating the
impact that ASU 2009-14 will have on its consolathfinancial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 201Pa@ Value Measurements and Disclosures:Improvingcldsures About Fair Value
Measuremen("ASU 2010-6"), which affects the disclosures mafleut recurring and non-recurring fair value measwants. ASU 2010-6 is
effective for the Company's fiscal beginning Jag#ar2010, and for annual and interim periods thtee. The Company is currently evaluai
the impact that ASU 2010-14 will have on its coidatled financial statements.

Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information
Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (irotisands):

January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Raw material $ 997 $ 97¢
Work in proces! 342 111
Finished good 893 74z

$ 2232 ¢ 1,82¢
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Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the foilg (dollars in thousands):

Estimated
Useful January 2, January 3,
Lives 2010 2009

Machinery and equipmel 3-7yrs. $ 6,852 $ 7,09i
*

Leasehold improvemen 1,79¢ 1,79¢
Furniture and fixture 5yrs. 457 457
Computer equipment and

software 3-7yrs. 2,55¢ 2,61¢
Assets held for sal — 101

11,66¢ 12,06¢
Less accumulate
depreciation and
amortization (6,88%) (5,129
$ 477¢ $ 6,93¢

* Estimated useful life is generally 7 years, orrégmaining lease term, whichever is shor

Included in property and equipment are tgaseder capital leases with a cost of approxinga#8l5 million and $0.3 million and
accumulated amortization of approximately $0.3iorilland $0.3 million at January 2, 2010 and JanBaB009, respectively. Amortization of
assets recorded under capital leases is includadcasiponent of depreciation and amortization egpen

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 200Be tCompany began moving certain operations to R@.RAs a result, management determined
that certain excess equipment was no longer nesadecided to hold the assets for sale. The carmalue of this excess equipment was
reduced to its fair value less costs to sell andsified as assets held for sale at January 3, Zb@Company determined the current fair value
of the excess equipment primarily using marketgwifor comparable equipment. Based on its analyg@sCompany recorded a charge of
approximately $0.1 million to reduce the assetd @l sale to their estimated fair value and ineldduch charge in selling, general and
administrative expenses for the year ended Jar8j&909. In fiscal 2009, the Company was unabketbcertain of the assets, and recorded an
abandonment charge of approximately $0.1 milliooluded as a component of selling, general and rEidtrative expense in the accompany
consolidated statement of operations.
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Warranty Liability

The following table summarizes the activitjated to the warranty liability (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Beginning balanc $ 277 $ 352
Charged to costs and expen 191 118
Usage (228) (189
Ending balanc $ 24C % 277

The warranty liability is included as a qmonent of accrued expenses and other currentitiabiin the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

Facility Relocation Costs

As a result of the relocation the Compadgmestic headquarters and manufacturing facilityngd) the third quarter of 2007, the Comp
vacated its previous manufacturing facility. Then@any is currently obligated under a noncancellaplerating lease of this facility through
November 2010. In accordance with ASC Topic 428,@lompany recorded a net charge and related tiabfliapproximately $134,000
fiscal 2007, which approximated the estimatedvalue of the net remaining lease payments.

In January 2008, the Company entered intagreement to sublease this facility to anotheairté During the fourth quarter of 2008, as a
result of certain adjustments and revised assumptielated to the sublease agreement with the tethenCompany recorded an additional
charge of approximately $34,000, which is includeda component of selling, general and adminisgaxkpense in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The rel&bility is included as a component of accruedenges and other current liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

In May 2009, the Company entered into are@gent to sublease a portion of its new domesticlguarters facility to another tenant at a
discount from the rent required under its leaserndment. As a result, the Company recorded an it charge of approximately $61,000,
which is included as a component of selling, gdreemd administrative expense in the accompanyimgaiidated statements of operations.
related liability is included as a component ofraed expenses and other current liabilities inab@mpanying consolidated balance sheets.
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The following table summarizes the activtyd liability balance related to the facility reégion costs recorded for the periods indicate
thousands):

Liability balance, December 29, 20 $ 10z
Charged to costs and expen 34
Net payment: (57)
Liability balance, January 3, 20! 80
Charged to costs and expen 61
Net payment: (57)
Liability balance, January 2, 20: $ 84

Comprehensive Loss

The components of comprehensive loss, fetxes, consist of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Net loss $ (12,919 $ (15,219
Other comprehensive los
Change in net unrealized loss on
investment: (D) (6)
Reclassification adjustment for r
realized gain included in net lo — (13
Total comprehensive lo: $ (12,919 $ (15,23))

Accumulated other comprehensive loss reftbon the consolidated balance sheets at Januafi@ and January 3, 2009 represents
accumulated net unrealized losses on investmem&iketable securities.
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Computation of Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the compiatatof basic and diluted net loss per share, inolgithe reconciliation of the numerator and
denominator used in the calculation of basic ahdetl net loss per share (in thousands, excephzee data):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

Basic and diluted net loss per share
Numerator: Net los $ (12,919 $ (15,219
Denominator: Weighte-average
common shares outstanding, basi
and dilutec 19,87¢ 19,84%

Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (065 $ (0.79)

All potentially dilutive common share eqgalgnts of approximately 1.1 million and 0.9 millishares, have been excluded from the diluted
net loss per share calculations for the years eddedary 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009, respectiasltheir effect would be arditutive for the
years then ended. These common share equivalamstof shares issuable upon the exercise ofandstg stock options and warral
computed using the treasury stock method, and waNg been included in the calculation of dilutachéngs per share had the Company
reported net income for these years.

Note 4—Fair Value Measurements

ASC Topic 820 defines fair value as thehexge price that would be received for an asspaiorto transfer a liability (an exit price) in
the principal or most advantageous market for #setor liability in an orderly transaction betweearket participants on the measurement
date. ASC Topic 820 also establishes a fair vaiemltchy that requires an entity to maximize the osobservable inputs and minimize the
of unobservable inputs when measuring fair vallee tandard describes three levels of inputs tlagtlme used to measure fair value:

Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical asst
liabilities.
Level 2 — Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssch a

guoted prices for similar assets or liabilitiesptpd
prices in markets that are not active; or otheuiap
that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the &ritrt
of the assets or liabilitie

Level 3 — Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlaa
market activity and that are significant to the fai
value of the assets or liabilitie

The fair value of the Company's cash edeiua is determined based on quoted prices in@aatiarkets for identical assets, or Level 1
inputs.
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The fair value of the Company's investmémtsarketable securities which are categorizeldea®! 1 consist of obligations of the United
States Government, federal agency notes and boonsnercial paper and corporate notes and bondsf ahich are valued using quoted
market prices.

The following table details the fair valoeasurements within the fair value hierarchy ofGleenpany's investments in marketable
securities (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements at January 2, 2010 Using

Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant
Fair Value at Active Markets for Observable Unobservable
January 2, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments in marketab
securities $ 4,89C $ 3,94¢ $ — 3 941

Fair value measurements using Level 3 sputhe table above relate to the Company's invessts in auction rate securities. The
disruptions in the credit market continue to aderaffect the liquidity and overall market for don rate securities. The Company has
estimated the fair value of these investments usidigcounted cash flow model which included asgiong about the credit quality and
expected duration of the investments, along wiitalint rates affected for the general lack of dgui These assumptions reflect the
Company's estimates about the reasonable assumptianket participants would likely use in valuihg investments, including assumptions
about risk, developed based on the best informati@ilable in the circumstances.

The following table provides a reconciliatiof the beginning and ending balances for the i2om's assets measured at fair value using
Level 3 inputs (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 2,
2010
Beginning balanc $ 96C
Unrealized loss included in accumulated of
comprehensive los (29
Ending balanci $ 941
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Investments in marketable securities comdithe following at January 2, 2010 and Januargd®9 (in thousands):

January 2, 2010
Net

Amortized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Obligations of the Unite
States governmel $ 997 $ — $ 997
Federal agency notes and
bonds 61 — 61
Commercial pape 1,04¢ — 1,04¢
Corporate notes and bon 1,83¢ 4 1,84:
Auction and variable floatin
rate note: 1,002 (62) 941
$ 4947 $ (57) $ 4,89(
January 3, 2009
Net
Amortized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss) Value
Certificates of depos $ 751 $ 1) $ 75C
Corporate notes and bon 4,46 (13) 4,44¢
Auction and variable floatin
rate note: 1,00z (42 96(
$ 6,21t $ (56) $ 6,15¢

Realized gains and losses on the salevestments in marketable securities are determisgd)uhe specific identification method.
Proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale stesriotaled $1.0 and $4.1 million for the yeardezhJanuary 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009,
respectively. Net realized gains recorded durimgytars ended January 2, 2010 and January 3, 28@9nwt significant.

The following table provides the breakdosfrinvestments in marketable securities with unizeal losses at January 2, 2010 and
January 3, 2009 (in thousands):

January 2, 2010
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 month: 12 months or greater
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss
Corporate notes and bon 36¢€ D — —
Auction and variable floating rate not — — 941 (62)
$ 366 $ (1) $ 941 $ (61)
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January 3, 2009
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 month: 12 months or greater
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss
Certificates of depos $ 25C $ 1 s — 9 —
Corporate notes and bon 4,44¢ (13 — —
Auction and variable floating rate not — — 96( (42

$ 469 $ (14 $ 96C $ (@2)

As of January 2, 2010 and January 3, 20@9Company held four and six investments, respelgtithat were in an unrealized loss
position.

Auction Rate Securities

Two of the Company's AAA rated auction reg¢eurities with a total purchased cost of apprex@ty $2.0 million experienced failed
auctions during the fourth quarter of 2007. Duéhifailed auctions, the Company was unable talselsecurities at their respective costs,
resulting in a decrease in fair value of $0.2 miilliwhich was recorded as a component of accuntutdteer comprehensive loss during fiscal
2007. During fiscal 2008, the Company was ablégiaidate these investments at par value. Accorgirtge Company reversed the previously
recorded cumulative unrealized loss on these invests.

Disruptions in the credit market continaeativersely affect the liquidity and overall marf@tauction rate securities. As of January 2,
2010 and January 3, 2009, the Company held twastments in auction rate securities with a totathased cost of $1.0 million. These two
investments represent (i) a fully insured debtgdtibn of a municipality and (ii) a AAA rated detdtligation backed by pools of student loans
guaranteed by the U.S. Department of Educatione®ifie insufficient observable market inputs aatee information available, the
Company has classified its investments in auctie securities within Level 3 of the fair valueraiehy (see Note 4).

The Company does not believe that the atifigquidity of its investments in auction ratecurities will materially impact its ability to
fund its working capital needs, capital expendsguse other business requirements. The Company, \@weemains uncertain as to when
liquidity will return to the auction rate marketghether other secondary markets will become aviagilabwhen the underlying securities may
be called by the issuer. Given these and otherrtaiotes, the Company's investments in auctioa saturities have been classified as long-
term investments in marketable securities in tfromapanying consolidated balance sheets. The Contasigoncluded that the estimated
gross unrealized losses on these investments, witaled approximately $61,000 and $42,000 at J3r21a2010 and January 3, 2009,
respectively, are temporary because (i) the Compatigves that the absence of liquidity that hasioed is due to general market conditions,
(i) the auction rate securities continue to be diigh credit quality and interest is paid as due @i) the Company has the intent and ability to
hold these investments until a recovery in the retaokcurs.
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Other Investments in Marketable Securities

Excluding its auction rate securities, ¢iness unrealized losses on the Company's othestimeats in marketable securities totaled
approximately $1,000 and $14,000 as of Januar@P) 2and January 3, 2009, respectively, and is gépetue to the ongoing uncertainties in
the credit and financial markets, as well as chamgénterest rates. Gross unrealized gains toth#@00 at January 2, 2010. There were no
gross unrealized gains at January 3, 2009. Thedhie of these investments was determined baséeéwel 1 inputs, consisting of quoted
prices from actual market transactions for idenfivaestments. The Company has determined thatnhealized losses on these investments as
of January 2, 2010 are temporary in nature. Factamsidered in determining whether impairmentsoginer than temporary include (i) the
length of time and extent to which fair value hag#less than the amortized cost basis, (ii) thenfiial condition and near-term prospects of
the investee and (iii) the Company's intent anditglio hold an investment for a period of time fiziént to allow for any anticipated recovery
in market value.

The Company maintains an investment paatfol various holdings, types and maturities. Theempany invests in instruments that meet
high quality credit standards, as specified innte&stment policy guidelines. These guidelines gahelimit the amount of credit exposure to
any one issue, issuer or type of instrument. Thesédue of the Company's investments in marketablaurities could change significantly in
the future and the Company may be required to teatirer-than-temporary impairment charges or aotutiti unrealized losses in future
periods.

The following table presents the amortizedt and fair value of the Company's investmentaanketable securities classified as available-
for-sale at January 2, 2010 and January 3, 20@®bfractual maturity (in thousands):

January 2, 201C

Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Less than one yei $ 3,94t $ 3,94¢
Greater than two year: 1,002 941
$ 4947 $ 4,89
January 3, 2008
Amortized Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Less than one yei $ 5,21 $ 5,19¢
Greater than two year: 1,002 96(
$ 6,21 $ 6,15¢
* Comprised of auction rate securities which gengtave reset dates of 90 days or less but finakraoctual

maturity dates in excess of 15 ye:
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The Company's previous credit facility, ethiconsisted of a revolving line of credit and a-mevolving equipment line, expired on
August 31, 2009 and all borrowings were repaichtoliank. Under the Company's previous revolving @ihcredit, the Company could borrow
up to the greater of 85% of eligible accounts neaalie plus the least of (i) a percentage of el@iblentory determined from time to time by
bank, (ii) 80% of the orderly liquidation value, @sfined, of eligible inventories, and (iii) $1 tioh. Under the equipment line, the Company
was allowed to borrow up to $3.9 million througmdary 3, 2009. The outstanding balance on the ewgnploan was approximately $0.5 at
January 3, 2009 (see Note 7). Interest on thetdiediity was payable monthly at the greatestiptie sum of the prime rate plus 3%,

(i) LIBOR plus 6% or (iii) 8%.

On October 31, 2009, the Company enteredanmevolving credit agreement with another finahimstitution. Under the credit agreeme
the Company may borrow up to the lesser of (i) 83%ligible accounts receivable, minus $1.0 million (i) $5.0 million. The credit
agreement contains an overall sublimit of $2.5ionilto collateralize the Company's contingent ddtiions under letters of credit, foreign
exchange contracts and cash management servicesimsmoutstanding under the overall sublimit redheeamount available pursuant to the
credit agreement. This revolving credit agreemabjexts the Company to certain affirmative and tiggaovenants, including financial
covenants with respect to the Company's liquidity profitability and restrictions on the paymentofidends. Interest is payable monthly at
either (i) prime (4% at January 2, 2010) plus 1.28%0long as the Company maintains $8.5 milliorewolving credit availability plus
unrestricted cash on deposit with the financialifason, or (ii) prime plus 2.25%. The minimum ntbly interest due is $3,750 minus the
aggregate amount of any interest earned by the. Fdiekcredit agreement matures on October 30, 28Mhich time all advances and interest
are due and payable. Obligations under this remgleredit agreement are secured by a first pridigty on the Company's tangible and
intangible assets. In connection with the revolingdit agreement, the Company entered into amdoepany Subordination Agreement,
which provided that one of the Company's subsidgiNetlist Technology Texas, LP, is an additiaidigor on the revolving credit agreem:

The following table presents details okneist expense related to borrowings on the lineseadfit, along with certain other applicable
information (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Interest expens $ 53 $ 207
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Outstanding borrowings on the revolvi
lines of credi $ — 3 —
Borrowing availability under revolvin
lines of credi $ — $ 1,701

As of January 2, 2010, the Company wa®mpliance with its financial covenants.
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Long-term debt consists of the following {housands):

January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Obligations under capital leases (see
Note 9) $ 15¢ % 14¢
Equipment note payable to bank (see
Note 6) — 45C
Note payable to othe — 6
15¢ 604
Less current portio (20¢) 474

$ 51 ¢ 13C

Capital Leases

The Company has purchased manufacturingamgputer equipment through the use of varioustablgiases that mature at various dates
through August 2011 (see Note 9). The interessratethese leases vary between 4.3% and 8.25%.

Note Payable to Others

In January 2003, the Company entered 800,000 loan agreement with a financing compaolateralized by assets owned by an
employee related to the then majority stockholdiéis note bore interest at 14% per annum and ninréanuary 2009. Principal and interest
payments of approximately $6,000 were due and payabnthly. The balance of this note was approxéys$6,000 at January 3, 2009, and
was repaid in full in fiscal 2009.

Interest expense related to the Compaagg-term debt is presented in the following talettjousands):

Year Ended

January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

Interest expens $ 27 % 98

Note 8—Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, loss befarovision (benefit) for income taxes includes tbllowing components (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
United State: $ (11,089 $ (10,72Y)
Foreign (2,247 (1,18¢)

$ (13,329 $ (11,919
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The Company's income tax provision (behefinsists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Current:
Federal $ (443 $ (1,239
State 31 11
Total current (412 (1,22¢)
Deferred:
Federal (3,54¢) (2,802)
State (607) (552
Foreign (38) (39)
Change in valuation allowan 4,191 7,922
Total deferrec — 4,52¢
Income tax provision (benefi $ (412 $ 3,301

Deferred income taxes reflect the net féects of temporary differences between the cagymounts of assets and liabilities for finan
reporting purposes and the amounts used for indarme
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purposes. Significant components of the Comparefarted tax assets and liabilities are as follawshousands):

A reconciliation of income taxes computgdalpplying the statutory U.S. income tax rate ® @ompany's loss before income taxes to the

January 2, January 3,
2010 2009
Deferred tax asset

Reserves and allowanc $ 241¢ $ 2,751

State taxes, net of federal income ta
benefit 1 1
Depreciation and amortizatic 23C 137
Other accrual 31¢ 373
Compensatory stock options and rig 1,68¢ 1,28(
Deferred gair 45 95
Other 25 62
Contribution carryforward 2 2
Tax credit carryforward 992 632
NOL carryforward 6,48¢ 2,652
Foreign deferred tax asst 77 39
Total deferred tax asse 12,28: 8,02/

Deferred tax liabilities

Prepaid expenst (169 (202
Total deferred tax liabilitie (169) (202
Subtotal 12,113 7,92z
Valuation allowanct (12,119 (7,929
$ — $ —

income tax provision (benefit) is as follows:

At January 2, 2010, the Company has appratély $17.1 million of federal net operating I¢48OL") carryforwards which begin to
expire in fiscal year 2029. The Company generatfediaral NOL of approximately $11.8 million durifigcal 2009. For the fiscal year ended

January 3, 2009, the

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

U.S. federal statutory te (39)% (395)%
Valuation allowanct 28 52
Loss from foreign subsidial 6 3
Unrecognized tax liability adjustme 4 —
State taxes, net of federal effi — 7
Other 2 1
Effective income tax provision (bene!

rate (3)% 28%
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Company generated a federal NOL of $9.8 million eadied back $4.5 million to the fiscal year en@etember 30, 2006. The remaining
$5.3 million will be carried forward to offset furitaxable income. At January 2, 2010, the Comasyapproximately $13.3 million of state
net operating loss carryforwards which begin toiexim fiscal year 2017. In addition, the Compaig iederal and state tax credit
carryforwards of approximately $0.4 million and $@nillion, respectively at January 2, 2010. Fed&alcredit carryforwards begin to expire
in 2026 and state tax credits carry forward indegdlp.

The Company evaluates whether a valuaflomance should be established against its defdemedssets based on the consideration
available evidence using a "more likely than naéthglard. In making such judgments, significant wueig given to evidence that can be
objectively verified. In the third quarter of fidggear 2008, the Company recorded a charge to irdamexpense to establish a valuation
allowance against its deferred income tax asset@f Aanuary 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009, a vatuatiowance of $12.1 million and
$7.9 million, respectively, has been provided basethe Company's assessment that it is more litkely not, that sufficient taxable income
will not be generated to realize the tax benefitthe temporary differences. The valuation allowaimcreased by approximately$4.2 million
and $7.9 million during the fiscal years ended dayn2, 2010 and January 3, 2009, respectively, glynrelated to the increase in the net
operating loss carryforward.

The deferred tax asset at January 2, 26&8 dot include approximately $793,000 and $961g0@Xcess tax benefits from employee
stock option exercises that are a component ofettheral and state net operating loss carryovepgci/ely. The Company's stockholders'
equity balance will be increased if and when suatess tax benefits are ultimately realized. In &oj the deferred tax assets at January 2,
2010 do not include $148,000 of tax benefits franplyee stock option exercises that are a compafahe federal and state net operating
loss carryover that will directly affect the tavopision (benefit) if and when such tax benefits @tenately realized.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

The following table summarizes the activitjated to the Company's unrecognized tax ben@iithousands):

Balance at December 29, 2C $ 56C
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogdirax

benefits 3
Balance at January 3, 20 563
Reversal of liability for expiration of statute of

limitations (49¢)
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogditax

benefits 10
Balance at January 2, 20 $ 77

Included in the unrecognized tax benefitdamuary 2, 2010 and January 3, 2009 was appréadyr0.1 million and $0.6 million,
respectively, of tax positions that, if recognizesuld affect the Company's annual effective tag.rihe Company reduced its unrecognized
tax benefits by approximately $0.5 million duringcil 2009 as a result of a lapse in a federaligtadf limitations, resulting in an income tax
benefit.
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The Company recognizes accrued interespandlties related to unrecognized tax benefits @mponent of tax expense. The Company
had approximately $2,000 accrued for interest @hdckrued for penalties at January 2, 2010 and,®Q@Gccrued for interest and $0 accrued
for penalties at January 3, 2009.

The Company files tax returns with fedestdte and foreign jurisdictions. The Company idamger subject to IRS or state examinations
prior to fiscal 2005 although certain carryforwaittfibutes that were generated prior to fiscal 20@fy still be adjusted by the IRS.

Tax Holidays

In fiscal 2008, the Company began operatimder tax holidays in the PRC, which are effectieen January 2008 through December
2012. Since the Company operated at a loss in@@ iR 2009 and 2008, it did not realize any benefits consolidated results of operations
attributable to the tax holidays.

Note 9—Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases certain of its facii@d equipment under non-cancelable operatingddhat expire at various dates through
October 2012. Rental expense, which includes apatitin of deferred gain and sublease income iepted in the following table (in
thousands):

Year Ended

January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

Rental expens $ 85C $ 1,04(

The Company also has acquired certain egerip through the use of various capital leases.

In December 2005, the Company sold thedingl containing its manufacturing facility and tte¢ated land in Irvine, California to an
unrelated third party for gross proceeds of appnately $1.9 million. Concurrent with the sale, ©empany entered into an agreement to |
the property back at an initial monthly rent of D, subject to annual rent increases of 3% thrde@se expiration in November 2010. The
Company accounts for the lease as an operating.lBasonnection with the sale, the Company recagha gain of approximately $0.6 milli
which was deferred and is being amortized into imegatably over the remaining lease term. Durirghed the years ended January 2, 2010
and January 3, 2009, the Company amortized appeaglyn$118,000 of the gain which is recorded asdaiction of rent expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatioanuary 2008, the Company entered into an aggeeto sublease this facility to
another tenant as a result of the Company's fac#éibcation, as discussed further in Note 3.
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A summary of future minimum payments urloleth capital and operating lease commitments nstiblease as of January 2, 2010 is as
follows (in thousands):

Capital Operating

Fiscal Year Leases Leases
2010 $ 122 $ 797
2011 53 49C
2012 — 36
Total minimum lease paymer 17¢ 1,32
Less amounts receivable under suble: — (30¢)
Minimum lease payments, net of amount

due under subleas 178 $ 1,01t
Less amount representing inter (16)
Present value of future minimum lee

payments (see Note $ 15¢

Litigation
Federal Securities Class Action

Beginning in May 2007, the Company, cert#iits officers and directors, and the Companydarwriters were named as defendants in
four purported class action shareholder complaints,of which were filed in the U.S. District Coddr the Southern District of New York, a
two of which were filed in the U.S. District Codadr the Central District of California. These purfaal class action lawsuits were filed on
behalf of persons and entities who purchased @raise acquired the Company's common stock pursuaraceable to the Company's
November 30, 2006 initial public offering (the "IPOThe lawsuits were consolidated into a singléom—Belodoff v. Netlist, Inc., Lead Case
No. SACV0-677 DOC (MLGx)—which is currently pending in thetral District of California. Lead Plaintiff filethe Consolidated
Complaint in November 2007. Defendants filed timeations to dismiss the Consolidated Complaint imuday 2008. The motions to dismiss
were taken under submission in April 2008 and oly 88, 2008, the court granted the defendants' metidowever, plaintiffs were granted
the right to amend their complaint and subsequditdgt their First Amended Consolidated Class Agt@omplaint ("Amended Complaint") in
July 2008. The defendants filed motions to disrttiesAmended Complaint in January 2009, and on Aptil2009, the court granted
defendants' motions to dismiss. However, plaintifése again granted the right to amend their complRlaintiffs' filed their Second Amend
Consolidated Class Action Complaint ("Second Ameh@emplaint") in May 2009. Generally, the Secondelitied Complaint, like the
preceding complaints, alleged that the Registrefitatement filed by the Company in connection hth IPO contained untrue statements of
material fact or omissions of material fact in waitwbn of Sections 11 and 15 of Securities Act 33 Defendants filed motions to dismiss the
Second Amended Complaint in June 2009. The motmdismiss were taken under submission in Augu8®2ihd on September 1, 2009, the
Court granted the defendants' motions. Howevemtifitis again were granted the right to amend ticeimplaint. In October 2009, following a
voluntary mediation of the matter, which took plac®ecember 2008, and subsequent good-faith sedtienegotiations, the parties reached a
tentative agreement in principle to settle theskaion. In February 2010, the parties
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executed a Stipulation and Agreement of Settlerdeatimenting the essential terms of the proposéleisent, informed the court of their
proposed settlement, and currently are draftingjrd notion to submit to the court for preliminagproval of the proposed settlement. Under
the settlement agreement to be presented to thefoompproval, plaintiffs and the class will dig® all claims, with prejudice, in exchange for
a cash payment of $2.6 million. The Company's dimstand officers' liability insurers will pay tlsettlement amount in accordance with the
Company's insurance policies. The court, upon #régs’ stipulation, has stayed all proceedingbénaction, except as necessary to
consummate the proposed settlement. Despite thmeed agreement to settle this action, the Compaligves that the allegations lack merit
and, if necessary, intends to vigorously defendlalins asserted. The Company makes no assuratites @#@me that the court will grant
approval of the proposed settlement terms or tietratter ultimately will be settled.

California Derivative Action

In August 2007, a derivative lawsuit wdsdiin California Superior Court for County of OggnSmith v. Hong, Case No. 07CC01359-
against certain of the Company's officers and timrsc This action contained factual allegationsilgimo those of the federal class action
lawsuit described above, but the plaintiff in tbése asserted claims for violations of Californiasider trading laws, breaches of fiduciary
duty, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, wdsterporate assets, and unjust enrichment. Thaetfffasought unspecified damages,
equitable and/or injunctive relief and disgorgemafrall profits, benefits and other compensatiotaoted by the defendants. The defendants in
this action did not respond to the complaint. Panstio a stipulation, the parties agreed to tenmigrstay the action pending the ultimate
decision on the defendants' motions to dismisherféderal securities class action. In April 2008pwing a voluntary mediation of the matt
which took place in December 2008, the partieshred@ tentative agreement to settle the derivatitien. On November 5, 2009, following a
motion by the parties, the court granted final appl of the settlement of these claims, issuefiritd judgment on the matter, and entered an
order dismissing the case with prejudice.

Patent Claims

In May 2008, the Company initiated discassiwith Google, Inc. regarding the Company's cédinat Google has infringed on a US
patent assigned to the Company relating genemllyaink multiplication" in memory modules. On Augi29, 2008, Google filed a declaratory
judgment lawsuit against the Company in Unitedet@istrict Court for the Northern District of (falinia, seeking a declaration that Goa
did not infringe on the Company's patent, and tihetCompany's patent is invalid. Google is not segkny monetary damages. On
November 18, 2008, the Company filed a countercfaininfringement of the patent by Google. Claimnstiuction proceedings were held
November 14, 2009, and the Company prevailed oryalisputed claim construction issue. Trial is ewmtty set for November 201
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On December 4, 2009, the Company filedtarganfringement suit against Google in the Uni&dtes District Court for the Northern
District of California, seeking damages and injinetelief based on Google's infringement of a nigeissued patent related to the Company's
patent-in-suit in the August 29, 2008 declaratodgment action filed by Google. On February 3, 20court ordered a settlement
conference in both cases by May 4, 2010. On Feprltgr2010, Google answered the Company's commaitithas asserted counterclaims
against the Company seeking a declaration thatdtent is invalid and not infringed, and claimihgttthe Company committed fraud,
negligent misrepresentation and contractual bresitheonnection with the setting of standards ceatday the patent. The counterclaim seeks
unspecified compensatory damages. The Companydstervigorously pursue its infringement claimsiagGoogle and to vigorously defe
against Google's claims.

On March 17, 2009, the Company filed a claimp for patent infringement against MetaRAM, Ifar. its infringement of one of the
Company's patents. On March 26, 2009, MetaRAM fdammplaint against the Company for patent infimgnt. Both actions were settled on
December 21, 2009. Pursuant to the Settlement Agget MetaRAM agreed to no longer sell the accyseduct at issue in the case filed by
the Company, and the parties executed conditiccei$es to one another for the respective patartsit in the two actions.

On September 22, 2009, the Company filpdtant infringement lawsuit against Inphi Corpanatin the United States District Court for
the Central District of California. The suit allegéhat Inphi is contributorily infringing and acglly inducing the infringement of a US patent
assigned to the Company which is directed to menragiules with load isolation and memory domaingfation capabilities. The Company
seeking damages and injunctive relief based oni'pke of its patented technology. On Decembe@@9, Netlist filed an Amended
Complaint asserting claims of patent infringemeaddnl on two additional patents concerning loadiss and memory domain translation
technologies. Inphi has denied infringement anddsaerted that the patents-in-suit are invalid. Campany intends to vigorously pursue its
infringement claims and to vigorously defend againphi's claims of invalidity.

On November 30, 2009, Inphi Corporatioadik patent infringement lawsuit against the Compauthe United States District Court for
the Central District of California alleging infriegnent of two patents related to memory module ddipffers. The Company recently
answered Inphi's Complaint and intends to vigonpdsfend against Inphi's claims of infringement.

Trade Secret Claim

On November 18, 2008, the Company filetharcfor trade secret misappropriation against Bdratruments ("T1") in Santa Clara
County Superior Court, based on Tl's disclosureonfiidential Company materials to the JEDEC stathd@tting body. On February 20, 2009,
Tl filed its answer. Discovery is currently undegwand the Company expects to vigorously pursueldisns against Tl.

Other Contingent Obligations

During its normal course of business, tlen@any has made certain indemnities, commitmerdggaarantees under which it may be
required to make payments in relation to certangactions. These include (i) intellectual propertemnities to the Company's customers and
licensees in
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connection with the use, sales and/or license ofi@my products; (ii) indemnities to vendors andiserproviders pertaining to claims based
on the Company's negligence or willful miscondJii); indemnities involving the accuracy of represations and warranties in certain
contracts; (iv) indemnities to directors and offcef the Company to the maximum extent permittedeun the laws of the State of Delaware;
and (v) certain real estate leases, under whiclCtmpany may be required to indemnify property awrier environmental and other
liabilities, and other claims arising from the Caang's use of the applicable premises. The duratidthese indemnities, commitments and
guarantees varies and, in certain cases, may bériitd. The majority of these indemnities, comnemts and guarantees do not provide for
limitation of the maximum potential for future pagnts the Company could be obligated to make. Héstlty, the Company has not been
obligated to make significant payments for thedegations, and no liabilities have been recordeadliese indemnities, commitments and
guarantees in the accompanying consolidated bakirests.

Note 10—Stockholders' Equity
Serial Preferred Stock

At the completion of the IPO, the Compantharized 10,000,000 shares of Serial PreferredkStaith a par value of $0.001 per share.
No shares were outstanding at January 2, 2010noada 3, 2009

Note 11—Stock Options and Warrants
Common Stock Options

In November 2000, the Company adopted @@ ZEquity Incentive Plan (the "2000 Plan") an®ictober 2006, the Company adopted the
2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2006 Plan"), undérich direct stock awards or options to acquir@ ek of the Company's common stock
be granted to employees and nonemployees of Né&thist 2000 Plan was administered by the Board t#dbors or a committee thereof, and
the 2006 Plan is administered by the Compensatamrittee of the Board of Directors. The 2000 Plamgtted the issuance of up to
5,750,000 shares of the Company's common stoc&ctifée as of the IPO, no further grants may be mamker the 2000 Plan. The 2006 Plan
permits the issuance of a maximum of 500,000 staresmmon stock, automatically increasing on & flay of each calendar year
beginning on or after January 1, 2007 by the lest&) 500,000 shares or (ii) such smaller numtifeshares as may be determined by the
Company's Board of Directors prior to that datg¢otal of 2,500,000 options to purchase shareseofbmpany's common stock have been
authorized for issuance under the 2006 Plan atabgr®y 2010. In addition to the common stock optigranted under the 2000 Plan and the
2006 Plan, the Company has 100,000 common stodbnspoutstanding at January 2, 2010 that were gdamtitside the equity incentive plans.
Options granted under the 2000 Plan, the 2006 &idroutside the equity incentive plans primarilgtwa a rate of at least 25% per year over
four years and expire 10 years from the date aftgra
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A summary of the Company's common stockoopdctivity is presented below:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Life Value
(in thousands) Price (in years) (in thousands)

Options outstandir—December 29, 200 3,74¢ 3.0¢

Options grante: 1,14t 1.27

Options exercise — —

Options cancelle (610) 2.6¢€
Options outstandir—January 3, 200 4,281 2.64

Options grante: 77¢ 0.72

Options exercise (25€) 1.82

Options cancelle (50€) 1.9¢
Options outstandir—January 2, 201 429t $ 241 6.37 $ 13,70¢
Options exercisab—January 2, 201 2721 $ 284 5.0¢ $ 7,87¢
Options exercisable and expected to

ves—January 2, 201 4,12¢ $ 247 6.2¢€ $ 13,00:
Options available for grant under the 2(
Plan at January 2, 20: 501

The following table summarizes informatayout stock options outstanding and exercisablaratary 2, 2010:

Options Outstanding

Weighted Options Exercisable
Average
Remaining Weighted Weighted
Number of Contractual Average Number of Average
shares Life Exercise shares Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices (in thousands) (in years) Price (in thousands) Price
$0.20- $0.39 1,83: 55 $ 0.2¢€ 1,08 $ 0.21
$0.57- $1.71 43¢ 78 $ 1.1¢ 171 ¢ 1.3¢
$1.92- $2.34 523 78 $ 2.04 23: $ 2.0t
$2.55- $3.90 511 6. $ 271 44C $ 2.6t
$6.03- $8.45 992 6.8 $ 6.9¢ 80: $ 7.0Z
4,29¢ 64 $ 241 2727 $ 284
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The following table presents the weightedrage assumptions used to estimate the per skiarafues of common stock options granted
by the Company, along with certain other pertiriefdrmation:

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

Weighted average expected term (in

years) 5.5 5.4
Weighted average expected volatil 114% 80%
Weighted average ri-free interest rat 2.92% 2.8%
Expected dividend — —
Weighted-average grant date fair valu

per share $ 0.7 % 0.8€
Intrinsic value of options exercised (in

thousands $ 1,12¢ $ —

The intrinsic value of common stock opti@xercised represents the difference between theméaket value of the Company's common
stock on the date of exercise and the exercise pfieach option.

Upon the exercise of common stock optitims,Company issues new shares from its authorizas.

At January 2, 2010, the amount of uneastedk-based compensation currently estimated &xpensed from fiscal 2010 through 2013
related to unvested common stock options was appedgly $1.5 million, net of estimated forfeitur@$he weightedaverage period over whi
the unearned stock-based compensation is expectedrecognized is approximately 2.2 years. Ifalae any modifications or cancellations
of either vested or unvested common stock optithressCompany may be required to accelerate, increasancel any remaining unearned
stock-based compensation expense or calculatesgoddradditional expense. Future stock-based cosagien expense and unearned stock-
based compensation will increase to the extenttliea€ompany grants additional common stock optwrather stock-based awards.
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Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purcttaaes of its common stock to certain non-empleyeeservices rendered or to be rendered
in the future. Such warrants are issued outside@P000 Plan and 2006 Plan. A summary of the wagetivity is presented below:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Number of Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Life Value
(in thousands) Price (in years) (in thousands)
Warrants outstandi—December 28
2007 31€ % 1.01
Warrants grante — —
Warrants exercise (97) 1.0C
Warrants cancelle (203) 1.0C
Warrants outstandi—January 3, 200 18 1.2t
Warrants grante — —
Warrants exercise — —
Warrants cancelle — —
Warrants outstandi—January 2, 201 18 $ 1.2t 3C $ 71

Warrants exercisat—January 2, 201 18

In February 2008, certain warrant holdesereised 300,000 warrants to purchase shares @dhgany's common stock, whereby the
Company issued approximately 97,000 shares of canstork pursuant to a net issue election and éffdgtreceived approximately 203,000
shares back from the warrant holders as consideratilieu of cash for the exercised warrants. Z68,000 shares were forfeited on the
exercise date.

Warrants outstanding at January 3, 2010Jandary 2, 2009 are classified as equity. Uporexteecise of warrants, the Company issues
new shares from its authorized shares.

Note 12—401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined dnriton plan. Employees are eligible to participmt¢his plan provided they are employed
full-time and have reached 21 years of age. Ppditts may make pre-tax contributions to the pldojesiti to a statutorily prescribed annual
limit. Each participant is fully vested in his cerhcontributions on the contributions and investt@amnings. The Company may make matc
contributions on the contributions of a participanta discretionary basis. In fiscal 2007, the Canypadopted a limited matching contribution
policy and made approximately $0.1 million in cdmiitions to participants in this plan in the yeaded January 3, 2009. Effective January
2009, the Company elected to discontinue matchimgributions.
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The Company's product sales have histdyibalen concentrated in a small number of custoniérs following table sets forth sales to
customers comprising 10% or more of the Comparstsales as follows:

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

Customer:
Dell 53% 58%
Hewlett Packart & 32%
Arrow Electronics 13% *
* less than 10% of net sal

The Company's accounts receivable primarnégyconcentrated with two customers at Janua2@ ), representing approximately 68%
10%; and two customers at January 3, 2009, repiiegeapproximately 51% and 19% of aggregate gressivables. A significant reduction in
sales to, or the inability to collect receivablesni, a significant customer could have a matedaksase impact on the Company.

The Company's purchases have historicagnlzoncentrated in a small number of suppliers.fétiowing table sets forth purchases from
suppliers comprising 10% or more of the Comparota purchases as follows:

Year Ended
January 2, January 3,
2010 2009

Supplier:

A 11%
B * 26%
C * 13%
* less than 10% of total purchas

While the Company believes alternative $ieppcould be utilized, any inability to obtainmmponents or products in the amounts needed
on a timely basis or at commercially reasonablegsricould result in delays in product introductiangerruption in product shipments or
increases in product costs, which could have anmaatelverse effect on the Company.

Note 14—Segment and Geographic Information

The Company operates in one reportable sagrthe design and manufacture of high-performanemory subsystems for the server,
high-performance computing and communications markéhe Company evaluates financial performance oompany-wide basis.

To date, a majority of the Company's in&ional sales relate to shipments of productsstt)i. customers' international manufacturing
sites or third-party hubs. Net sales derived froipments to
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international destinations, primarily to Asia (inding foreign subsidiaries of customers that amefeartered in the U.S.), represented
approximately 70% and 55% of the Company's nessaléscal 2009 and 2008, respectively. All of hempany's net sales to date have been
denominated in U.S. dollars.

As of January 2, 2010 and January 3, 28pproximately $3.0 million and $4.2 million of t@®mpany's long-lived assets, net of
depreciation and amortization, respectively, werated outside the United States, primarily inRREC. Substantially all other loriiyed assel
were located in the United States.

Note 15—Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evaluatedgthtbe date that the consolidated financial statésneere issued. There are no reportable
subsequent events.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Each of the following is a wholly ownedefit subsidiary of Netlist, Inc.:

Entity Name
Netlist Technology Texas, L.F
Netlist Electronics (Suzhou) Co., L

Netlist HK Limited

Jurisdiction of Organization

Texas

People's Republic ¢
China

Hong Kong

EXHIBIT 21.1
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EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeesincRegistration Statements Nos. 333-139435, 31&3-41, 333-151644, 333-161832, 333-
161834, 333-163991 and 333-164261 on Form S-8 386184290 of Form S-3 of our report dated Febrd&ry2010, relating to the
consolidated financial statements of Netlist, Bred subsidiaries, appearing in this Annual Repofform 10-K of Netlist, Inc. for the year
ended January 2, 2010.

/s KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
February 19, 2010
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Chun K. Hong, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2026f Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineltiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andli@ periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyinfjagr and | are responsible for establishing anéhtaaing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlpauédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control oveariicial reporting, or caused such internal coragxa@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of tegiBrant's disclosure controls and procedurepagsknted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any changthe Registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigs fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahmeport) that has materially affected
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the R&gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The Registrant's other certifyin§iagfr and | have disclosed, based on our most teseiuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétadnmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{orspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and miatkweaknesses in the design or operation of iatlecontrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid's ability to record, process, summarize amebrt financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not materiattinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the Registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

February 19, 2010 /s/ CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmarthefBoard
(Principal Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gail Itow, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 2026f Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineltiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andli@ periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyinfjagr and | are responsible for establishing anéhtaaing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlpauédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control oveariicial reporting, or caused such internal coragxa@r financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of tegiBrant's disclosure controls and procedurepagsknted in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any changthe Registrant's internal control over financggorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigs fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahmeport) that has materially affected
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the R&gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The Registrant's other certifyin§iagfr and | have disclosed, based on our most teseiuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétadnmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{orspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and miatkweaknesses in the design or operation of iatlecontrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid's ability to record, process, summarize amebrt financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not materiattinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the Registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

February 19, 2010 /s/ GAIL ITOW

Gail Itow
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onriRdt0-K of Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation €tst") for the fiscal year ended January 2,
2010, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @asion on February 19, 2010 (the "Report"), Chutiking, president, chief executive
officer and chairman of the board of Netlist, anail®ow, vice president and chief financial offiog Netlist, each hereby certifies, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant todBe2®6 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, thahisor her knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with thejudrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Reegairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations

of Netlist.
February 19, 201 /s/ CHUN K. HONG
Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmarthefBoard
(Principal Executive Officer
February 19, 2010 /s GAIL ITOW

Gail Itow
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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